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BLOCK 1 INTRODUCTION TO WORKING CAPITAL and management of cash
Working capital can be considered life blood of any institution as it is required to perform day to day tasks of business. Similarly management of cash is one of the most important tasks of management.  This block introduces you to the fundamental concepts of working capital and its management and discusses various ways to manage cash and cash balances.
The block comprises of four units. Unit 1 deals with the basic concepts of working capital. Kinds of Working Capital are described and the nature and importance of working capital will be discussed in detail. Working capital management will remain the most important consideration of this unit. Objectives of working capital management are explained to probe into the scope of working capital management and finally, working capital financing will be discussed with special reference to Indian scenario. 

In next unit i.e. unit 2, working capital requirements will be revealed in a detailed manner. Components of working capital will be discussed and working capital policy will be explained followed by discussion on working capital cycle. Some other areas of concern of this include working capital ratios; determinants of working capital and estimation of working capital requirements.

Third unit deals with the fundamental concepts of cash management. Importance of cash management will be discussed and elements of an effective cash management program will be suggested. Investments and their types will be revealed followed by discussions on cash systems and cash collection systems. Cash concentration strategies and cash disbursement will also be highlighted in final sections.

Unit 4 throws light on management of cash flows and cash budgeting. Cash flow management is the first and most important area of discussion of this unit. Techniques for better cash flow management will be discussed. Methods and approaches to prepare cash flow statement will be explained in later sections. Cash flow forecasting is discussed as an important aspect of cash management. Finally cash budgeting and steps involved in cash flow budgeting will be discussed.

UNIT 1

BASIC CONCEPTS OF WORKING CAPITAL

Objectives

After studying this unit, you should be able to understand and appreciate:
· The concept of working capital and its relevance in financial management

· Various kinds of working capital 

· The approach to working capital management 

· Understand the nature and importance of working capital management

· The propositions to working capital financing

Structure
1.1 Introduction

1.2 Kinds of Working Capital 

1.3 The nature and importance of working capital

1.4 Working capital management

1.5 Objectives of working capital management

1.6 Working capital financing

1.7 Summary

1.8 Further readings

1.1 INTRODUCTION

Working capital, also known as "WC", is a financial metric which represents operating liquidity available to a business. Along with fixed assets such as plant and equipment, working capital is considered a part of operating capital. It is calculated as current assets minus current liabilities. If current assets are less than current liabilities, an entity has a working capital deficiency, also called a working capital deficit. Net working capital is working capital minus cash (which is a current asset). It is a derivation of working capital that is commonly used in valuation techniques such as DCFs (Discounted cash flows).

Working Capital = Current Assets − Current Liabilities
A company can be endowed with assets and profitability but short of liquidity if its assets cannot readily be converted into cash. Positive working capital is required to ensure that a firm is able to continue its operations and that it has sufficient funds to satisfy both maturing short-term debt and upcoming operational expenses. The management of working capital involves managing inventories, accounts receivable and payable and cash.

1.1.1Calculation
Current assets and current liabilities include three accounts which are of special importance. These accounts represent the areas of the business where managers have the most direct impact:

· accounts receivable (current asset)

· inventory (current assets), and

· accounts payable (current liability)

The current portion of debt (payable within 12 months) is critical, because it represents a short-term claim to current assets and is often secured by long term assets. Common types of short-term debt are bank loans and lines of credit.

An increase in working capital indicates that the business has either increased current assets (that is has increased its receivables, or other current assets) or has decreased current liabilities, for example has paid off some short-term creditors.

Implications on M&A: The common commercial definition of working capital for the purpose of a working capital adjustment in an M&A transaction (ie for a working capital adjustment mechanism in a sale and purchase agreement) is equal to:

Current Assets - Current Liabilities excluding deferred tax assets/liabilities, excess cash, surplus assets and/or deposit balances.
Cash balance items often attract a one-for-one purchase price adjustment.

1.2 KINDS OF WORKING CAPITAL

The working capital in certain enterprise may be classified into the following kinds. 
1. Initial working capital
The capital, which is required at the time of the commencement of business, is called initial working capital. These are the promotion expenses incurred at the earliest stage of formation of the enterprise which include the incorporation fees. Attorney's fees, office expenses and other preliminary expenses. 
2. Regular working capital
This type of working capital remains always in the enterprise for the successful operation. It supplies the funds necessary to meet the current working expenses i.e. for purchasing raw material and supplies, payment of wages, salaries and other sundry expenses. 
3. Fluctuating working capital
This capital is needed to meet the seasonal requirements of the business. It is used to raise the volume of production by improvement or extension of machinery. It may be secured from any financial institution which can, of course, be met with short term capital. It is also called variable working capital. 
4. Reserve margin working capital

It represents the amount utilized at the time of contingencies. These unpleasant events may occur at any time in the running life of the business such as inflation, depression, slump, flood, fire, earthquakes, strike, lay off and unavoidable competition etc. In this case greater amount of capital is required for maintenance of the business. 

5. Permanent and Temporary Working Capital
The Operating Cycle creates the need for Current Assets (Working Capital).However the need does not come to an end once the cycle is completed. It continues to exist. To explain the continuing need of current assets, a distinction should be drawn between temporary and permanent working capital.

 

Business Activity does not come to an end after the realization of cash from customers. For a company, the process is continuing, and hence, the need for regular supply of working capital. However, the, magnitude of Working Capital required is not constant but fluctuating. To carry on a business, a certain minimum level of working capital is necessary on a continuous and uninterrupted basis. For all practical purposes, this requirement has to be met permanently as with other fixed assets. This requirement is referred to as permanent or fixed working capital.

 

Any amount over and above the permanent level of working capital is temporary, fluctuating or variable working capital. The position of the required working capital is needed to meet fluctuations in demand consequent upon changes in production and sales as a result of seasonal changes.

 

Both kinds of working capital are necessary to facilitate the sales proceeds through the Operating Cycle.

6. Long Term working capital


The long-term working capital represents the amount of funds needed to keep a company running in order to satisfy demand at lowest point. There may be many situations where Demand may fluctuate considerably. It is not possible to retrench the work force or instantly sell all the inventories whenever demand declines Due to temporary reasons. Therefore the value, which represents the long-term working capital, stays with the business process all the time. It is for all practical purpose as permanent as fixed assets. In other words, it consists of the minimum current assets to be maintained at all times. The size of the permanent working 
capital varies directly with the size of Operation of a firm.

7. Short term working capital

Short-term capital varies directly with the level of activity achieved by a company. The Volume of Operation decides the quantum of Short-term working capital. It also changes from one firm to another; from cash to inventory from inventory to debtors and from debtors back to cash. It may not always be gain fully employed. Temporary Working capital should be obtained from such sources, which will allow its return when it is not in use.

8. Gross Working Capital

Gross working capital refers to the firm’s investment in current assets. Current assets are those assets which can be converted in to cash with in an accounting year and includes cash short term securities, debtors bills receivable and stock.

9. Net Working Capital

Net working capital refers to the difference between current asset and Current liabilities. Current liabilities are those claims of outsiders, which are expected to mature for payment within accounting year and include creditors, bills payable and outstanding expenses. Net Working capital can be positive or negative. A positive net working capital will arise when current assets exceed current liabilities.

The Gross working capital concept focuses attention on two aspect of current assets management.


(a) How to optimize investment in current assets?
(b) How should current assets be finance?


Both the question is the most decision making action of the management. It should be give due consideration before taking decision.

Both Net and Gross working capital is important and they have equal significance from management point of view.

The consideration of the level of investment in current assets should avoid two danger points – Excessive and Inadequate investment in current assets. Investment in Current assets should be just adequate, not more or less, to the need of the business firm. Excessive investment in current assets should be avoided because it impairs the firm’s profitability as idle investment earns nothing on the other hand, inadequate amount of working capital can threaten solvency of the business because its inability to meet its current obligation. It should realize that the working capital needs of the firm may be fluctuation with changing business activity. This may cause excess or shortage of working capital frequently. The management should be prompt to initiate an action and correct imbalances.

Another aspect of the Gross working capital points to the need of arranging funds to finance current assets. Whenever a need for working capital fund arises due to the increasing level of business activity or for any other reason financing arrangement should not be allowed to remain idle, but should be invested in short term securities. Thus the finance manager should have knowledge of the sources of fund as well as investment of idle fund.

Net Working capital is qualitative concept. It indicates the liquidity position of the firm and suggests the extent to which working capital needs may be finance by permanent source of fund. A weak solvency of the company and makes it unsafe and unsound.

Net working capital concept also covers the question of judicious mix of long term and short term funds for financing current assets. For every firm, there is a minimum amount of net Working capital which is permanent. Therefore, a portion of working capital should be finance with the permanent sources of fund such as share capital, debenture, and long-term debt, preference share capital or retail earning. Management must decide the extent to which current assets should be financed with Equity capital and/or borrowed capital.
So we can say that both Gross and net working capital are equally important for the efficient management of working capital.


The objective of working capital management is to maintain the optimum balance of each of the working capital components. This includes making sure that funds are held as cash in bank deposits for as long as and in the largest amounts possible, thereby maximizing the interest earned. However, such cash may more appropriately be "invested" in other assets or in reducing other liabilities.


1.3 THE Nature AND IMPORTANCE of Working Capital

Working Capital Management is concerned with the problems that arise in attempting to manage the Current Assets, the Current Liabilities and the inter-relationship that exists between them. The term Current Assets refers to those Assets which in the ordinary course of business can be, or will be, converted into Cash within one year without undergoing a diminution in value and without disrupting the operations of the firm. The Major Current Assets are Cash, Marketable Securities, Accounts Receivables and Inventory.

Current Liabilities are those Liabilities, which are intended at their inception, to be paid in the ordinary course of business, within a year out of the current assets or the earnings of the concern .The basic Current Liabilities are Accounts Payable, Bills Payable, Bank Overdraft and outstanding expense. The goal of Working Capital Management is to manage the firm's Assets and Liabilities in such a way that a satisfactory level of working capital is maintained. This is so because if the firm cannot maintain a satisfactory level of working capital, it is likely to become insolvent and may even be forced into bankruptcy.

The Current Assets should be large enough to cover its current liabilities in order to ensure a reasonable margin of safety. Each of the current assets must be managed efficiently in order to maintain the liquidity of the firm while not keeping too high a level of any one of them. Each of the short term sources of financing must be continuously managed to ensure that they are obtained and used in the best possible way. The interaction between current assets and current liabilities is, therefore, the main theme of the theory of management of working capital.

Many organisations that are profitable on paper are forced to cease trading due to an inability to meet short-term debts when they fall due. In order to remain in business it is essential that an organisation successfully manages its working capital. Too often however, this is an area which is ignored. This article will look at the items which comprise working capital, and using live examples will consider the level of working capital required by businesses operating in different industries.
The definition of working capital is fairly simple; it is the difference between an organisation's current assets and its current liabilities. Of more importance is its function which is primarily to support the day-to-day financial operations of an organisation, including the purchase of stock, the payment of salaries, wages and other business expenses, and the financing of credit sales.
As the cycle indicates, working capital comprises a number of different items and its management is difficult since these are often linked. Hence altering one item may impact adversely upon other areas of the business. For example, a reduction in the level of stock will see a fall in storage costs and reduce the danger of goods becoming obsolete. It will also reduce the level of resources that an organisation has tied up in stock. However, such an action may damage an organization’s relationship with its customers as they are forced to wait for new stock to be delivered, or worse still may result in lost sales as customers go elsewhere.

Extending the credit period might attract new customers and lead to an increase in turnover. However, in order to finance this new credit facility an organisation might require a bank overdraft. This might result in the profit arising from additional sales actually being less than the cost of the overdraft.

Management must ensure that a business has sufficient working capital. Too little working capital will result in cash flow problems. Problems can be highlighted by an organisation exceeding its agreed overdraft limit, failing to pay suppliers on time, and being unable to claim discounts for prompt payment. In the long run, a business with insufficient working capital will be unable to meet its current obligations and will be forced to cease trading even if it remains profitable on paper.

On the other hand, if an organisation ties up too much of its resources in working capital it will earn a lower than expected rate of return on capital employed. Again this is not a desirable situation.

The Importance of Working capital management is reflected in the fact that finances managers spends a great deal of time in managing current assets and current liability. As we all Know that working capital is important part of the Business that help to the Company to meet its obligations.

Working Capital is also help in profitability. As we know that the current ration is the indication of firm’s short-term solvency. It is also known as the access of current assets over current liability


So Higher the working capital means higher the current assets and higher the current assets mean Company will be promptly able to meet his Obligation. So the chances of company getting into liquidation are less. But Lower the Working capital means less of current assets over Current liability and Lower the current assets means the Company will not be able to pay his Obligation and the chances of Company to in to liquidation is more. So the Working capital should be as per the need of the Organization. Again the amounts of working capital also affect the Profitability of the Company.

If we have higher the working capital then we have more of Current assets Over Current Liability. And more of Current assets means Company have more money. In this situation the Company has idle Resource, which does not earn any thing for the company. And this is the burden for the company. In Other words they have Resource, which Company cannot utilize in effective manner. And in this way the Profitability of the Company get affected.

The Working capital is also helps in overall Profitability measurement.

RETURN ON INVESTMENT (ROI) is the basic indicator of Profitability. Higher the ROI better the position of the company in terms of Profit. SO this ration shows the company’s Operational efficiency. So higher the ROI Grater the position of the company. So that we can say that higher the ROI means lower the capital employed

Capital employed =share capital + reserve and surplus + long term debt


In other words 

Capital Employed = Fixed Assets + Working Capital

Both capital Employed and ROI inversely Proportionate. It means that higher the ROI then lower the capital employed and lower the ROI higher will be the capital employed.

1.3.1 The working capital cycle
The working capital cycle starts when stock is purchased on credit from suppliers and is sold for cash and credit. When cash is received from debtors it is used to pay suppliers, wages and any other expenses. In general a business will want to minimise the length of its working capital cycle thereby reducing its exposure to liquidity problems. Obviously, the longer that a business holds its stock, and the longer it takes for cash to be collected from credit sales, the greater cash flow difficulties an organisation will face.
In managing its working capital a business must therefore consider the following question. 'If goods are received into stock today, on average how long does it take before those goods are sold and the cash received and profit realised from that sale?' The answer will depend upon a number of factors that we will consider later in this article. For now we will turn our attention to calculating the length of a business's working capital cycle.

Dublin Ltd has provided the following information based upon the year to 31 January 1999.
	Credit sales
	Rs.1,200,000

	Credit purchases
	Rs.650,000

	Average stock
	Rs.80,000

	Average debtors 
	Rs.200,000

	Average creditors
	Rs.54,000


With the help of a few simple ratios we can calculate the length of Dublin's working capital cycle as follows:

We can use the stock days ratio to calculate the average length of time that goods remain in stock:
	Average stock
	*365 days = 
	80,000*365 
	= 45 days

	

Credit purchases
	 
	

650,000
	 


The average time taken by Dublin Ltd to pay suppliers may be calculated as follows:
	Average creditors 
	*365 days = 
	54,000*365
	= 31 days

	

Credit purchases
	 
	

650,000
	 


Whilst the average time taken for cash to be collected from a credit sale is calculated as:
	Average debtors
	*365days = 
	200,000*365
	= 61 days

	

Credit sales
	 
	

1,200,000
	 


The working capital cycle for Dublin Ltd can be summarised as follows:
	Stock received today is held for
	45 days

	Less:
	 

	Credit period offered by suppliers
	31 days

	 
	

14 days

	Add:
	 

	Credit period offered to customers
	61 days

	Length of working capital cycle
	

75 days

	 
	



The longer the cycle the greater the level of resources tied up in working capital. In the above example, if Dublin could reduce its stock turnover and debtor’s collection periods each by just five days, its investment in working capital would fall as follows:
	Stock
	Rs.71,000

	Debtors
	Rs.184,000


A saving of Rs.25,000
1.3.2 Problems faced by small businesses
Although working capital problems can be experienced by businesses of any size, it is usually small businesses which have most problems, especially during their start up phase. We can illustrate this with the aid of a detailed example.

William Miller has recently started a business producing pine dining furniture. The furniture is produced by himself and two employees and is then sold to a national chain of furniture retailers. The retail chain insists on a two month credit period. However, since the business is new, suppliers require immediate payment for raw materials. Wages and other expenses are paid as incurred. At the end of each month, Miller has no stock remaining. The opening in cash balance in January was Rs.1,000.

Miller has provided the following forecast figures from which he would like you to construct a cash budget and profit and loss account.
	 
	Sales
	Purchases of
	Wages and

	 
	 
	raw materials
	other expenses

	 
	Rs.
	Rs.
	Rs.

	Jan
	10,000
	5,000
	3,000

	Feb
	10,000
	5,000
	3,000

	Mar
	20,000
	10,000
	4,500

	Apr
	30,000
	15,000
	6,000


Table 1 contains the forecast cash budget, profit and loss account and summary of working capital for the business and illustrates the problems faced by many small businesses. The forecast profit and loss account shows that William Miller is running a profitable business (Rs.18,500 profit during the four months), with monthly sales increasing threefold during the period under review. However, due to the credit terms offered to his customers, and the payment terms required by his suppliers, Miller has severe cash flow problems highlighted by the cash deficit of Rs.30,500 at 30 April. Consequently the business has a weak working capital position, with net current liabilities of Rs.18,500.

For small businesses that are starting up or expanding, the problems faced by William Miller are not uncommon. As sales increase, businesses are required to acquire more raw materials to produce enough goods to meet the increase in demand, whilst workers are required to work longer hours necessitating the payment of overtime wages. However, the cash from credit sales may not be received for several weeks, whilst suppliers and employees require immediate payment. In this situation a business is heavily dependent upon its bank overdraft and loans. In the long term, if the business survives, the problem will be reduced through negotiating better credit terms with customers and suppliers.
	Table 1


	Cash budget for the four months to 30 April


	 
	Jan
	Feb
	Mar
	Apr

	Opening cash balance
	1,000
	(7,000)
	(15,000)
	(19,500)

	Cash receipts
	
	
	
	

	Sales (2 month lag)
	0
	0
	10,000
	10,000

	Cash payments
	
	
	
	

	Purchases of raw materials
	5,000
	5,000
	10,000
	15,000

	Other expenses
	3,000
	3,000
	4,500
	6,000

	Total
	

8,000
	

8,000
	

14,500
	

21,000

	Closing cash balance
	(7,000)
	(15,000)
	(19,500)
	(30,500)

	Forecast profit and loss account for the four months to 30 April
	
	
	
	

	Sales
	70,000
	
	
	

	Less: cost of sales
	35,000
	
	
	

	Gross profit
	

35,000
	
	
	

	Less: other expenses
	16,500
	
	
	

	Net profit
	

18,500
	
	
	

	Extract from balance sheet at 30 April
	
	
	
	

	Current assets
	
	
	
	

	Debtors (20,000 + 30,000)
	50,000
	
	
	

	Current liabilities
	
	
	
	

	Bank overdraft
	30,500
	
	
	


1.3.3 The optimum level of working capital
As a guide many text books suggest that to be safe an organisation requires a 2:1 ratio of current assets to current liabilities. That is for every Rs.1 of current liabilities, Rs.2 of current assets is required to ensure that the organisation does not run into cash flow problems. However, this is much too simplistic, and the required level of working capital will vary from industry to industry. We can illustrate this point with reference to Table 2 which shows a breakdown of the working capital for three public limited companies (plc) operating in different industrial sectors. The figures are taken from recently published annual reports. 

	Table 2: Comparison of working capital by industry


	 
	Tesco y/e
	Airtours y/e
	Man Utd y/e

	 
	28/2/98
	30/9/98
	31/7/97

	 
	Rs.m
	Rs.m
	Rs.000s

	Current assets
	
	
	

	Stock
	584
	17.0
	3,565

	Debtors
	133
	413.8
	10,731

	Short terms investments
	196
	11.1
	22,400

	Cash at bank and in hand
	29
	364.2
	23,244

	 
	

942 
	

806.1
	

59,940

	Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
	

2,712
	

802.0
	

29,468

	Working capital
	

1,770 
	

4.1
	

30,472

	Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
	832
	140.3
	27,577

	Current ratio
	0.35
	1.01
	2.03

	Acid test
	0.13
	0.98
	1.91

	Cash to current liabilities
	0.01
	0.45
	0.79


Each of our plcs is profitable and is considered successful in its field. However, it is apparent from Table 2 that only Manchester United plc meets the 'suggested' current ratio of 2:1. Indeed Tesco appears to be in real trouble with only 35 pence of current assets and 13 pence of 'quick' assets for every Rs.1 of current liabilities. Worse still, if we consider the ratio of cash to current liabilities, Tesco has only one pence of cash coverage for every Rs.1 of current liabilities suggesting severe liquidity problems. Yet Tesco is the largest supermarket chain in the UK with over 600 stores and an annual profit on ordinary activities before taxation in excess of Rs.800 million.

Airtours also falls well short of the suggested current ratio of 2:1, although its quick assets ratio of 1:1 is satisfactory. These figures illustrate that the 2:1 ratio is inappropriate, and the amount of working capital required by an organisation will vary depending upon the nature of its business and the industry in which it operates.

Let us consider the figures shown in Table 2 in more detail starting with Tesco.

Although Tesco's level of working capital appears low, let us look at the nature of its business. Each day throughout the UK and Europe, millions of customers will purchase their groceries from Tesco paying for their goods in cash before they leave the store.

Most items sold by Tesco have a shelf life of only a few days. As market leader Tesco can rely on regular deliveries of stock from suppliers at fairly short notice. In addition the use of forecasting techniques will enable managers to reliably predict daily sales levels. All of these factors enable Tesco to operate with relatively low levels of stock.

Since almost all sales are on a cash rather than credit basis, the level of debtors is also low. In addition, the company is able to invest surplus cash balances in short-term investments (usually on the money markets), hence maximising the return to its investors.

Turning our attention to current liabilities, Tesco will purchase most of its stock on credit resulting in trade creditors in its 1998 annual accounts of Rs.826million. Indeed most stock will have been sold and realised a profit before Tesco even pays its suppliers. Few organisations are in such a fortuitous position. Other creditors will include corporation tax and dividends, amounts which Tesco will know with certainty when they are to be paid.

We can see that due to the nature of its business, and in particular an abundance of cash sales, few debtors, low levels of stock, and most purchases being for credit, cash flow is not likely to be a problem, and hence Tesco is able to operate with negative working capital.

If we turn our attention to Airtours, customers will usually pay for their holidays well in advance of departure ensuring that cash flow is not a problem whilst also minimising the incidence of bad debts. Unlike Tesco, Airtours sales are seasonal with most cash being received during the period January to June. However, expenses will be incurred throughout the year and careful planning is necessary to ensure that Airtours is able to meet its current liabilities as they fall due.

Being a tour operator, stock levels are relatively low. Debtors mostly comprise amounts paid in advance in respect of hotel accommodation and balances owing from customers for holidays. We can see from Table 2 that like Tesco, Airtours can operate with a lower current ratio than the suggested 2:1, however due to the seasonal nature of its business, sound budgeting and forecasting is essential to ensure that liabilities can be met even during the close season.

Turning to Manchester United we can see little evidence of any working capital problems at 31 July 1997, with the company having a current ratio of 2:1. In addition the company has 79 pence of cash for every Rs.1 of current liabilities. This is not surprising if we consider the nature of Manchester United's business. During the period August to May cash flow is not likely to be a problem since almost every week over 50,000 fans will crowd into Old Trafford to watch their team play. Many of these fans pay for their seats in advance, purchasing a season ticket before the season commences. In addition the club will receive cash from sponsors, television companies and the sale of merchandise. However, as with Airtours, business is seasonal and careful planning is necessary to ensure that all liabilties are met as they fall due.

A review of the club's working capital at 31 July shows that stock and debtors are relatively small, with the majority of working capital comprising short-term investments and cash, reflecting the cash received from season ticket sales.

From our review of Table 2 we can see that the optimum level of working capital will vary depending upon the industry in which an organisation operates and the nature of its transactions.

1.3.4 Sources of working capital

Sources of additional working capital include the following:
1. Existing cash reserves
2. Profits (when you secure it as cash!)
3. Payables (credit from suppliers)
4. New equity or loans from shareholders
5. Bank overdrafts or lines of credit
6. Long-term loans

if you have insufficient working capital and try to increase sales, you can easily over-stretch the financial resources of the business. This is called overtrading. Early warning signs include:
• Pressure on existing cash
• Exceptional cash generating activities e.g. offering high discounts for early cash   payment
• Bank overdraft exceeds authorized limit
• Seeking greater overdrafts or lines of credit
• Part-paying suppliers or other creditors
• Paying bills in cash to secure additional supplies
• Management pre-occupation with surviving rather than managing.
• Frequent short-term emergency requests to the bank (to help pay wages, pending receipt of a cheque).

1.3.5 Handling Receivables (Debtors)
Cash flow can be significantly enhanced if the amounts owing to a business are collected faster. Every business needs to know.... who owes them money.... how much is owed.... how long it is owing... for what it is owed.

Late payments erode profits and can lead to bad debts. Slow payment has a crippling effect on business; in particular on small businesses who can least afford it. If you don't manage debtors, they will begin to manage your business as you will gradually lose control due to reduced cash flow and, of course, you could experience an increased incidence of bad debt. The following measures will help manage your debtors:

1. Have the right mental attitude to the control of credit and make sure that it gets the   priority it deserves.

2. Establish clear credit practices as a matter of company policy.

3. Make sure that these practices are clearly understood by staff, suppliers and customers.

4. Be professional when accepting new accounts, and especially larger ones.

5. Check out each customer thoroughly before you offer credit. Use credit agencies, bank references, industry sources etc.

6. Establish credit limits for each customer... and stick to them.

7. Continuously review these limits when you suspect tough times are coming or if operating in a volatile sector.

8. Keep very close to your larger customers.

9. Invoice promptly and clearly.

10. Consider charging penalties on overdue accounts.

11. Consider accepting credit /debit cards as a payment option.

12. Monitor your debtor balances and ageing schedules, and don't let any debts get too large or too old.

Recognize that the longer someone owes you, the greater the chance you will never get paid. If the average age of your debtors is getting longer, or is already very long, you may need to look for the following possible defects:
1. Weak credit judgment
2. Poor collection procedures
3. Tax enforcement of credit terms
4. Slow issue of invoices or statements
5. Errors in invoices or statements
6. Customer dissatisfaction.

Debtors due over 90 days (unless within agreed credit terms) should generally demand immediate attention. Look for the warning signs of a future bad debt. For example,

• Longer credit terms taken with approval, particularly for smaller orders
• Use of post-dated checks by debtors who normally settle within agreed terms
• Evidence of customers switching to additional suppliers for the same goods
• New customers who are reluctant to give credit references
• Receiving part payments from debtors.

Profits only come from paid sales.

The act of collecting money is one, which most people dislike for many reasons and therefore put on the long finger because they convince themselves there is something more urgent or important that demands their attention now. There is nothing more important than getting paid for your product or service. A customer who does not pay is not a customer. Here are a few ideas that may help you in collecting money from debtors:

• Develop appropriate procedures for handling late payments.
• Track and pursue late payers.
• Get external help if your own efforts fail.
• Don't feel guilty asking for money.... its yours and you are entitled to it.
• Make that call now. And keep asking until you get some satisfaction.
• In difficult circumstances, take what you can now and agree terms for the remainder. 
• It lessens the problem.
• When asking for your money, be hard on the issue - but soft on the person. Don't give the debtor any excuses for not paying.
• Make it your objective is to get the money - not to score points or get even.
• Managing Payables (Creditors)
• Creditors are a vital part of effective cash management and should be managed carefully to enhance the cash position.
• Purchasing initiates cash outflows and an over-zealous purchasing function can create 

1.4 Working capital management

Decisions relating to working capital and short term financing are referred to as working capital management. These involve managing the relationship between a firm's short-term assets and its short-term liabilities. The goal of working capital management is to ensure that the firm is able to continue its operations and that it has sufficient cash flow to satisfy both maturing short-term debt and upcoming operational expenses.

In fact Working Capital is the money used to make goods and attract sales. The less Working Capital used to attract sales, the higher is likely to be the return on investment. Working Capital management is about the commercial and financial aspects of Inventory, credit, purchasing, marketing, and royalty and investment policy. The higher the profit margin, the lower is likely to be the level of Working Capital tied up in creating and selling titles. The faster that we create and sell the books the higher is likely to be the return on investment. Thus when we have been using the word investment in the chapter on pricing, we have been discussing Working Capital.

The Balance Sheet comprises Long term Assets (real estate, motor vehicles, machinery) and Net Current Assets. The word Working Capital is often used for Net Current Assets. In this unit we will exclude Cash in Bank from our definition. Thus our Balance Sheet appears as follows:   

	Long Term Assets 
	6,000 

	Working Capital 
	28,000 

	Cash in Bank 
	1,000 

	Total Capital 
	35,000 


We defined Net Current Assets as Total Current Assets less Total Current Liabilities. In this book we shall subtract current liabilities items from current assets as follows: 
	
	Young 

	Inventory 
	15,000 

	Receivables 
	17,000 

	Prepayments 
	6,000 

	Payables 
	(9,000) 

	Customer Prepayments 
	(1,000) 

	Working Capital 
	28,000 


Using this format we can state than any reduction in the Working Capital figure, other than for provisions for write-offs and write-downs, will generate the same amount of cash. Thus if a customer pays USRs. 500 that he owes to the organisation, the Working Capital figure will fall be USRs. 500, and the cash figure will be increased by the same figure. This revised format is useful when designing spreadsheet financial planning models for business plans or for internal reporting. 

The Working Capital cycle or Cash Conversion cycle as it is also called is usually expressed in terms of the number of days. This figure is the average time that it takes to turn investment in books into cash and profit. We studied Payback in the previous chapter. Payback expresses the number of days required to recoup the original investment on a single title. In the organization’s Balance Sheet there will be the costs of paper, titles still under development, and author advances of books already and not yet published. In addition there will be the cost of stocks of unsold books, Accounts Receivable, and Accounts Payable. 

1.4.1 Decision criteria
By definition, working capital management entails short term decisions - generally, relating to the next one year period - which are "reversible". These decisions are therefore not taken on the same basis as Capital Investment Decisions (NPV or related, as above) rather they will be based on cash flows and / or profitability.

· One measure of cash flow is provided by the cash conversion cycle - the net number of days from the outlay of cash for raw material to receiving payment from the customer. As a management tool, this metric makes explicit the inter-relatedness of decisions relating to inventories, accounts receivable and payable, and cash. Because this number effectively corresponds to the time that the firm's cash is tied up in operations and unavailable for other activities, management generally aims at a low net count.

· In this context, the most useful measure of profitability is Return on capital (ROC). The result is shown as a percentage, determined by dividing relevant income for the 12 months by capital employed; Return on equity (ROE) shows this result for the firm's shareholders. Firm value is enhanced when, and if, the return on capital, which results from working capital management, exceeds the cost of capital, which results from capital investment decisions as above. ROC measures are therefore useful as a management tool, in that they link short-term policy with long-term decision making. 

1.4.2 Management of working capital
Guided by the above criteria, management will use a combination of policies and techniques for the management of working capital. These policies aim at managing the current assets (generally cash and cash equivalents, inventories and debtors) and the short term financing, such that cash flows and returns are acceptable.

· Cash management. Identify the cash balance which allows for the business to meet day to day expenses, but reduces cash holding costs.

· Inventory management. Identify the level of inventory which allows for uninterrupted production but reduces the investment in raw materials - and minimizes reordering costs - and hence increases cash flow; see Supply chain management; Just In Time (JIT); Economic order quantity (EOQ); Economic production quantity
· Debtors management. Identify the appropriate credit policy, i.e. credit terms which will attract customers, such that any impact on cash flows and the cash conversion cycle will be offset by increased revenue and hence Return on Capital (or vice versa); see Discounts and allowances.

· Short term financing. Identify the appropriate source of financing, given the cash conversion cycle: the inventory is ideally financed by credit granted by the supplier; however, it may be necessary to utilize a bank loan (or overdraft), or to "convert debtors to cash" through "factoring".

Let us now consider some of the methods that can be employed to assist in its management. We will review each of the key elements that comprise working capital in turn.

(a) Stock

 The cost of holding stock is relatively easy to measure and will include:

· storage; 

· security; 

· Losses due to theft, obsolescence, and goods perishing.

For example, consider a retail outlet selling home computers. Three years ago it acquired fifty state of the art PCs at a cost of Rs.1,000 each. At the time each computer could be sold for Rs.1,300 resulting in a profit of Rs.300 per machine. Unfortunately today fifteen of these models remain in stock. Not only are they taking up valuable space, but due to rapid advances in technology they can only be sold for Rs.300 each. If this outdated stock is sold, the overall position on this transaction is:

	 
	Rs.

	Sales of 35 computers at Rs.1,300 each
	45,500

	Sale of 15 computers at Rs.300 each
	4,500

	Total sales revenue
	

50,000

	Cost of sales (50 computers at Rs.1,000 each)
	(50,000)

	Profit
	

'

	 
	-


When we take into account administration and storage costs this transaction will actually result in a loss to the organisation.

We can therefore see the importance of not holding excessive levels of stock.

What is less easy to quantify is the cost of not holding sufficient levels of stock to meet the demand from customers. For example, if an organisation has insufficient stock to meet demand, it will initially result in lost sales. In the longer term it may also damage a business's goodwill, with long-standing customers turning to other, more reliable suppliers.

For most organisations the difficulty is determining the optimum level of stock.This will depend upon a number of factors including:

· the average level of daily sales (adjusted for seasonal variations); 

· the lead time between ordering goods and their delivery; 

· the reliability of suppliers; 

· the type of good and the danger of their perishing or becoming obsolete; 

· the cost of re-ordering stock; 

· storage and security costs; 

· other factors such as rumours of a shortage or an increase in price.

It is essential that systems are in place to ensure that stock levels are reviewed regularly and where necessary appropriate action taken.

(b) Debtors
Too often, especially during their start-up period, businesses concentrate on generating sales and pay little attention to the collection of money from debtors. As a result although sales exist on paper, the cash generated by these sales takes too long to materialise and cash flow problems occur (as our William Miller example illustrates). Additionally, the longer a debt is outstanding the greater the likelihood it will become bad.

With this in mind an effective credit control policy is necessary. This should include the following:

· Before allowing credit, an organisation should check the credit rating of potential customers, where necessary seeking references from a third party. Often this will involve using the services of a credit agency such as Dunn and Bradstreet. 

· Based upon the results of a credit check, credit limits can be set. Once the credit limit is reached it cannot be exceeded without the authorization of senior management. 

· Credit customers should be informed in writing of the normal credit period (for example 30 days after the invoice date). 

· A small cash discount is often used as an incentive to encourage early payment by debtors. For example, many firms offer a discount of 2.5% of the invoice value for payment within seven working days of the invoice date. 

· It is essential that an organisation maintains accurate records detailing all transactions with customers and the amounts owing. An aged debtors' list detailing the length of time that a debt has been owing is useful since it highlights those debts which management needs to concentrate on. 

· An organisation should issue regular statements (normally monthly), and where necessary these should be followed up with reminders and phone calls/letters.

Effective credit control will ensure that disputes are settled quickly without damaging the relationship with a customer, whilst at the same time reducing the occurrence of bad debts. However, such a system is often expensive and time consuming to set up, hence many organisations, especially those which have only recently commenced trading, utilise debt factoring.

Debt factoring involves an organisation passing responsibility for the management and collection of its trade debtors to a third party.The organisation 'sells' its invoices to a factor company and in return the factor immediately advances cash equal to between 50 and 85% of the total invoice value. The balance of the invoice value, less a charge for the factoring service, is paid when the debts are collected. In addition the factor is responsible for the administration of an organisation's debtors, and can offer protection against bad debts.

The advantage of factoring is that it enables an organisation to concentrate upon generating sales and leaves the collection of cash to a third party. Most importantly it reduces the cash flow problems often experienced by new businesses by giving access to cash immediately rather than having to wait 30 or more days. Again our William Miller example highlights the problems experienced by small businesses, factoring would immediately solve Miller's cash flow problem. However, factoring is expensive and in the long term it may be cheaper for an organisation to establish its own debtor management systems.

Invoice discounting is becoming increasingly common. Like debt factoring the business immediately receives cash representing a proportion of the total invoice value. Unlike debt factoring the business retains responsibility for the management of its credit control system.

When deciding the credit period offered to customers an organisation must consider several factors. A longer credit period (for example 45 days compared to 30 days offered by competitors) may generate additional sales, however these must be compared against the additional costs incurred by the business. These costs might include an increase in bad debts, higher administration costs and bank overdraft charges. If the profits arising from the additional credit period are less than the costs incurred, the credit period should be reviewed.

(c) Trade creditors
The practice of businesses extending trade credit to one another is probably the most important source of short-term funding available to most organisations. At first glance trade credit appears to represent a short-term interest free loan which enables a higher level of trade than if everything was paid for immediately in cash.

However, if we take a closer look at trade credit we can see that there are costs associated with it. Most suppliers offer customers a discount for early payment. Thus a supplier might allow 30 days'credit on all sales. However, in order to encourage early settlement of debts, customers paying within seven days are offered a cash discount equating to 2.5% of the invoice total. On an invoice of Rs.10,000 (excluding VAT) this would equate to a saving of Rs.250 (Rs.10,000*2.5%).

Even if an organisation has an overdraft it may still be beneficial to take advantage of a cash discount. For example, Alanis purchases Rs.5,000 of goods from Celine. Celine offers all customers the option of either 30 days' credit or a 1.5% discount if cash is received within 5 days. If Alanis takes the cash discount she will incur an overdraft on which interest is charged at 20% per annum. Is the cash discount beneficial to Alanis?

If Alanis takes the cash discount she will save:
Rs.5,000*1.5% = Rs.75

However, she will incur an overdraft for 25 days (30 ' 5 days) which will cost:
Rs.5,000*[20%*25/365] = Rs.68.49

In this example Alanis will benefit by Rs.6.51 if she pays the invoice within five days.

Another cost of trade credit, which is often ignored, is its impact upon the creditworthiness of a business. If a business consistently exceeds the credit period imposed by suppliers, in the long term its credit rating will be damaged. In the worst case scenario, suppliers will be forced to take legal action and may even withdraw their credit facility, requiring cash on delivery.

Whilst trade credit is undoubtedly a useful facility, it is important that businesses do not become too dependent upon it.

(d) Cash and bank balances
Liquidity problems often arise because inflows and outflows of cash do not coincide. For example, a small tour operator is likely to find itself awash with cash from January to June as customer’s book and pay for their summer holidays. Whilst from July to December sales and hence cash balances will be lower. However, business expenses such as wages and salaries, heat and light, rent and rates, and loan interest will remain more or less the same throughout the year. It is therefore essential that businesses plan ahead to ensure that sufficient cash is available to meet expenses in the off-peak period.

The preparation of a cash budget will indicate the flow of receipts and payments in and out of the business and will forecast periods of surplus and deficit cash balances thereby reducing the level of uncertainty. If a large surplus is forecast, cash can be invested in an interest earning account until it is required. If a deficit is forecast, our business can arrange a bank overdraft or loan. However, wherever possible overdrafts and loans should be avoided due to their high cost

1.5 ObjectiveS of Working Capital Management

The Basic Objective of Working Capital Management is to provide adequate support for the smooth functioning of the normal business operations of a company. This Objective can be sub-divided into 2 parts:-

1.       Liquidity

2.       Profitability

 

1) Liquidity

The quantum of Investment in Current Assets has to be made in a manner that it not only meets the needs of the forecasted sales but also provides a built in cushion in the form of safety stocks to meet unforeseen contingencies arising out of factors such as delays in arrival of Raw Material, sudden spurts in demand etc. Consequently, the investment in current assets for a given level of forecasted sales will be higher if the management follows a conservative attitude than when it follows an aggressive attitude. Thus, a company following a conservative approach is subject to a lower degree of risk than the one following an aggressive approach. Further, in the former situation the high amount of Investment in Current Assets imparts greater liquidity to the company than under the latter situation wherein the quantum of investment in Current Asset is less. This aspect exclusively covers the liquidity dimension of Working Capital.

2) Profitability

Once we recognize the fact that the total amount of financial resources at the disposal of a company is limited and these can be put to alternative uses, the larger the amount of investment in current assets, the smaller will be the amount available for investment in other profitable avenues at hand with the company. A conservative approach in respect of Investment in Current Assets leaves fewer amounts for other Investments than an aggressive approach does. Further, since the Current Assets will be more for a given level of Sales forecast under the conservative approach, the turnover of Current Assets (calculated as ratio of Net Sales to Current Assets) will be less than what they would be under the aggressive approach. Even if we assume the same level of Sales Revenue, operating Profit before Interest and Tax and Net (Operating) fixed assets, the company following a conservative policy will have a low percentage of operating profitability as compared to its counter part following an aggressive approach.

 

1.6 Working capital financing

The Objective of Working Capital Management covers not only the management of Current Assets in tune with the attitude of Management towards Risk and arriving at a satisfactory level of Current Assets that balances the Liquidity and Profitability Criteria, but also the Management of Financing the chosen level of Current Assets, once again taking into consideration the attitude of Management towards risk.

 

The difference between the amounts of the Current Assets and the Spontaneous Liabilities needs to be financed by a combination of bank borrowings in the form of Cash credit/overdraft arrangement and Long-Term sources of Finance such as debenture and Equity Capital. An aggressive financing policy will tend to have a mix towards bank borrowings and public deposits as compared to a conservative policy being more tilted towards ling-term sources like Equity.

 

Except in rare cases, the general tendency in case of Manufacturing and Trading Companies is that during certain periods in a year the need for current assets will be much higher than in other periods in the year. As the financing charges  in the case of "Bank borrowings are geared to and move in tandem with the credit needs occasioned by a higher Investment in Current Assets, the Total Interest charge is likely to be low. However, the debt servicing cost will be high as Bank borrowings have to be repaid (rather re-negotiated for the coming year) .Consequently, the risk of 'Technical Solvency' (a situation where a company is not in a position to honor its current liabilities including short-term bank borrowings which can arise even in the case of Profitable companies) is likely to be high.

 

On the other hand, a conservative Working Policy having a high proportion of equity capital and to some extent debentures will have a comparatively low debt-servicing resulting in a lower degree of the risk of technical solvency. However, the cost of Financing will be high as the cost of Equity Capital is the highest and it does not provide tax benefits which the Interest on Borrowed Capital provides to the company. Moreover the Debenture Interest (Even after taking into account the Tax Effect) has to be paid throughout the year irrespective of fluctuating credit needs of a company towards financing its current assets.

 

Even in the case of choosing the mix of instruments for choosing the mix of Instruments for financing the current assets, the risk of technical solvency tends to be high while the cost of financing tends to be low under an aggressive policy compared to a conservative policy under which the risk of technical solvency will be low while the cost of financing tends to be high. Thus, the Managements attitude towards risk goes a long-way in determining the financing mix considered appropriate for the company.

 

In 1974, a study group under the chairmanship of Mr. P. L. Tandon was constituted for framing guidelines for commercial banks for follow-up & supervision of bank credit for ensuring proper end-use of funds. The group submitted its report in August 1975, which came to be popularly known as Tandon Committee’s Report. Its main recommendations related to norms for inventory and receivables, the approach to lending, style of credit, follow ups & information system.


It was a landmark in the history of bank lending in India. With acceptance of major recommendations by Reserve Bank of India, a new era of lending began in India.

1.6.1 Tandon committee’s recommendations


Breaking away from traditional methods of security oriented lending; the committee enjoyed upon the banks to move towards need based lending. The committee pointed out that the best security of bank loan is a well functioning business enterprise, not the collateral. 

Major recommendations of the committee were as follows:

1. Assessment of need based credit of the borrower on a rational basis on the basis of their business plans.

2. Bank credit would only be supplementary to the borrower’s resources and not replace them, i.e. banks would not finance one hundred percent of borrower’s working capital requirement.

3. Bank should ensure proper end use of bank credit by keeping a closer watch on the borrower’s business, and impose financial discipline on them.

4. Working capital finance would be available to the borrowers on the basis of industry wise norms (prescribe first by the Tandon Committee and then by Reserve Bank of India) for holding different current assets, viz. 

. Raw materials including stores and others items used in manufacturing process.
. Stock in Process.
. Finished goods.
. Accounts receivables.

5. Credit would be made available to the borrowers in different components like cash credit; bills purchased and discounted working capital, term loan, etc., depending upon nature of holding of various current assets.

6. In order to facilitate a close watch under operation of borrowers, bank would require them to submit at regular intervals, data regarding their business and financial operations, for both the past and the future periods.

1.6.2The Norms 


Tandon committee had initially suggested norms for holding various current assets for fifteen different industries. Many of these norms were revised and the least extended to cover almost all major industries of the country.

Expression of Norms 


The norms for holding different current assets were expressed as follows:

(a) Raw materials as so many months’ consumption. They include stores and other items used in the process of manufacture.

(b) Stock-in-process, as so many months’ cost of production.

(c) Finished goods and accounts receivable as so many months’ cost of sales and sales respectively. These figures represent only the average levels. Individual items of finished goods and receivables could be for different periods which could exceed the indicated norms so long as the overall average level of finished goods and receivables does not exceed the amounts as determined in terms of the norm.

(d) Stock of spares was not included in the norms. In financial terms, these were considered to be a small part of total operating expenditure. Banks were expected to assess the requirement of spares on case-by-case basis. However, they should keep a watchful eye if spares exceed 5% of total inventories.

The norms were based on average level of holding of a particular current asset, not on the individual items of a group. For example, if receivables holding norms of an industry was two months and an unit had satisfied this norm, calculated by dividing annual sales with average receivables, then the unit would not be asked to delete some of the accounts receivable, which were being held for more than two months.

The Tandon committee while laying down the norms for holding various current assets made it very clear that it was against any rigidity and straight jacketing. On one hand, the committee said that norms were to be regarded as the outer limits for holding different current assets, but these were not to be considered to be entitlements to hold current assets upto this level. If a borrower had managed with less in the past, he should continue to do so. On the other hand, the committee held that allowance must be made for some flexibility under circumstances justifying a need for re-examination. The committee itself visualized that there might be deviations of norms in the following circumstances. 

(a) Bunched receipt of raw materials including imports.
(b) Interruption of production due to power cuts, strikes or other unavoidable 
Circumstances.
(c) Transport delays or bottlenecks.
(d) Accumulation of finished goods due to non-availability of shipping space for exports or other disruption in sales.
(e) Building up of stocks of finished goods, such as machinery, due to failure on the part of the purchaser for whom these were specifically designed and manufactured.
(f) Need to cover full or substantial requirement of raw materials for specific export contract of short duration.

While allowing the above exceptions, the committee observed that the deviations should be for known and specific circumstances and situation, and allowed only for a limited period to tide over the temporary difficulty of a borrowing unit. Returns to norms would be automatic when conditions return to normal.
Methods of Lending
The lending framework proposed by Tandon Committee dominated commercial bank
Lending in India for more than 20 years and its continues to do so despite withdrawal of
Mandatory provision of Reserve Bank of India in 1997.

As indicated before, the essence of Tandon Committee’s recommendations was to finance only portion of borrowers working capital needs not the whole of it. It was thought that gradually, the borrower should depend less on banks to fund its working capital needs. From this point of view the committee three graduated methods of lending, which came to be known as maximum permissible bank finance system or in short MPBF system.

FIRST METHOD OF LENDING


The contribution by the borrowing unit is fixed at a minimum of 25% working capital gap from long-term funds. In order to reduce the reliance of the borrowers on bank borrowings by bringing in more internal cash generation for the purpose, it would be necessary to raise the share of the contribution from 25% of the working capital gap to a higher level. The remaining 75% of the working capital gap would be financed by the bank. This method of lending gives a current ratio of only 1:1. This is obviously on the low side.

SECOND METHOD OF LENDING


In order to ensure that the borrowers do enhance their contributions to working capital and to improve their current ratio, it is necessary to place them under the Second Method of lending recommended by the Tandon Committee which would give a minimum current ratio of 1.33:1. The borrower will have to provide a minimum of 25% of total current assets from long-term funds. However, total liabilities inclusive of bank finance would never exceed 75% of gross current assets. As many of the borrowers may not be immediately in a position to work under the Second Method of lending, the excess borrowing should be segregated and treated as a working capital term loan which should be made repayable in installments. To induce the borrowers to repay this loan, it should be charged a higher rate of interest. For the present, the Group recommends that the additional interest may be fixed at 2% per annum over the rate applicable on the relative cash credit limits. This procedure should be made compulsory for all borrowers (except sick units) having aggregate working capital limits of Rs.10 lakhs and over. 

THIRD METHOD OF LENDING


Under the third method, permissible bank finance would be calculated in the same manner as the second method but only after deducting four current assets from the gross current assets.

The borrower’s contribution from long-term funds will be to the extent of the entire core 
current assets, as defined, and a minimum of 25% of the balance current assets, thus strengthening the current ratio further. This method will provide the largest multiplier of bank finance.

Core portion current assets were presumed to be that permanent level which would generally vary with the level of the operation of the business. For example, in case of stocks of materials the core line goes horizontally below the ordering level so that when stocks areordered materials are consumed down the ordering level during the lead time and touch the core level, but are not allowed to go down further. This core level provides a safety cushion against any sudden shortage of materials in the market or lengthening of delivery time. This core level is considered to be equivalent to fixed assets and hence, was recommended to be financed from long-term sources.
Activity 1

1. What do you understand by working capital? Discuss the importance of working capital management. 

2. List various kinds of working capital. Also explain the objectives of working capital management.
3. Describe the working capital financing. What are various norms and recommendations of Tandon committee on working capital financing in India. 

4. Give your views on the management of working capital in Indian companies.


1.7 summary

Working capital is a financial metric which represents operating liquidity available to a business. Along with fixed assets such as plant and equipment, it is considered a part of operating capital and calculated as current assets minus current liabilities. After a detailed introduction of working capital, kinds of working capital were discussed. The nature and importance of working capital was the next area of focus of the unit. Further, the important topic of working capital management was dealt in detail. Objectives of working capital management in form of liquidity and profitability management were highlighted and finally working capital financing was explained with special refeerence to Tandon committee’s recommendations and norms.
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UNIT 2

WORKING CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
Objectives

After studying this unit, you should be able to understand:
· The requirements of effective working capital management

· Various components of working capital

· Relevance and importance of working capital policy

· Approach to working capital cycle

· Determinants of working capital

· Methods of estimation of working capital requirements

Structure
2.1 Introduction

2.2 Components of working capital 

2.3 Working capital policy

2.4 Working capital cycle

2.5 Working capital ratios

2.6 Determinants of working capital

2.7 Estimation of working capital requirements

2.8 Summary

2.9 Further readings
2.1 INTRODUCTION
Working capital may be regarded as the life blood of business. Working capital is of major importance to internal and external analysis because of its close relationship with the current day-to-day operations of a business. Every business needs funds for two purposes.

* Long term  funds are required  to create production facilities through purchase of fixed assets such as plants, machineries, lands, buildings & etc

* Short term funds are required for the purchase of raw materials, payment of wages, and other day-to-day expenses. . It is other wise known as revolving or circulating capital 

It is nothing but the difference between current assets and current liabilities. i.e. Working Capital = Current Asset – Current Liability. 

Businesses use capital for construction, renovation, furniture, software, equipment, or machinery. It is also commonly used to purchase inventory, or to make payroll. Capital is also used often by businesses to put a down payment down on a piece of commercial real estate. Working capital is essential for any business to succeed. It is becoming increasingly important to have access to more working capital when we need it. 

Business firm must maintain an adequate level of working capital in order to run its business smoothly. It is worthy to note that both excessive and inadequate working capital positions are harmful. Working capital is just like the heart of business. If it becomes weak, the business can hardly prosper and survive. No business can run successfully without an adequate amount of working capital. We in this unit will discuss some of the main factors that should be determined in working capital management. Unit also focuses on estimation of working capital requirements.

2.2 COMPONENTS OF WORKING CAPITAL

It is helpful to think of working capital in terms of five components:

1. Cash and equivalents. This most liquid form of working capital requires constant supervision. A good cash budgeting and forecasting system provides answers to key questions such as: Is the cash level adequate to meet current expenses as they come due? What is the timing relationship between cash inflow and outflow? When will peak cash needs occur? When and how much bank borrowing will be needed to meet any cash shortfalls? When will repayment be expected and will the cash flow cover it? 

2. Accounts receivable. Many businesses extend credit to their customers. If you do, is the amount of accounts receivable reasonable relative to sales? How rapidly are receivables being collected? Which customers are slow to pay and what should be done about them? 

3. Inventory. Inventory is often as much as 50 percent of a firm's current assets, so naturally it requires continual scrutiny. Is the inventory level reasonable compared with sales and the nature of your business? What's the rate of inventory turnover compared with other companies in your type of business? 

4. Accounts payable. Financing by suppliers is common in small business; it is one of the major sources of funds for entrepreneurs. Is the amount of money owed suppliers reasonable relative to what you purchase? What is your firm's payment policy doing to enhance or detract from your credit rating? 

5. Accrued expenses and taxes payable. These are obligations of your company at any given time and represent a future outflow of cash. 

2.3 Working Capital policy 
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Figure 1

Principles of Risk variation 

* Here risk refers to the inability of a firm to meet its obligation, when they become due for payment.
* There is a definite inverse relationship between the degree of risk & profitability.
* A management prefers to minimize risk by maintaining a higher level of current assets or working capital. 

Principles of cost of capital

* Generally, higher the risk lower is the cost & lowers the risk, higher is the cost.
* A sound working capital management should always try to achieve a proper balance b/w these two. 

Principles of equity position 

* It is concerned with planning the total investment in Current Asset.
* Every rupee invested in the current assets should contribute to the net worth of the firm. 

The level of Current Asset may be measured with the help of two ratios 

· Current assets as a % of total assets. 

· Current assets as a % of total sales. 

Principle of maturity of payment 

· It is concerned with planning the sources of finance for working capital. 

· A firm should make every effort to relate maturities of payment to its flow of internally generated funds. 
2.4 Working Capital Cycle 

Cash flows in a cycle into, around and out of a business. It is the business's life blood and every manager's primary task is to help keep it flowing and to use the cash flow to generate profits. If a business is operating profitably, then it should, in theory, generate cash surpluses. If it doesn't generate surpluses, the business will eventually run out of cash and expire. The faster a business expands the more cash it will need for working capital and investment. The cheapest and best sources of cash exist as working capital right within business. Good management of working capital will generate cash will help improve profits and reduce risks. Bear in mind that the cost of providing credit to customers and holding stocks can represent a substantial proportion of a firm's total profits. 

There are two elements in the business cycle that absorb cash - Inventory (stocks and work-in-progress) and Receivables (debtors owing you money). The main sources of cash are Payables (your creditors) and Equity and Loans.
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Figure 2

Each component of working capital (namely inventory, receivables and payables) has two dimensions ........TIME ......... and  MONEY. When it comes to managing working capital - TIME IS MONEY. If you can get money to move faster around the cycle (e.g. collect monies due from debtors more quickly) or reduce the amount of money tied up (e.g. reduce inventory levels relative to sales), the business will generate more cash or it will need to borrow less money to fund working capital. As a consequence, you could reduce the cost of bank interest or you'll have additional free money available to support additional sales growth or investment. Similarly, if you can negotiate improved terms with suppliers e.g. get longer credit or an increased credit limit, you effectively create free finance to help fund future sales. 

2.4.1 Sources of Additional Working Capital 

Sources of additional working capital include the following: 

* Existing cash reserves 
* Profits (when you secure it as cash) 
* Payables (credit from suppliers) 
* New equity or loans from shareholders 
* Bank overdrafts or lines of credit 
* Long-term loans 

If you have insufficient working capital and try to increase sales, you can easily over-stretch the financial resources of the business. This is called overtrading. Early warning signs include: 

*Pressure on existing cash 
* Exceptional cash generating activities e.g. offering high discounts for early cash payment 
* Bank overdraft exceeds authorized limit 
* Seeking greater overdrafts or lines of credit 
* Part-paying suppliers or other creditors 
* Paying bills in cash to secure additional supplies 
* Management pre-occupation with surviving rather than managing 
* Frequent short-term emergency requests to the bank (to help pay wages, pending receipt of a cheque). 

2.5 Working Capital Ratios 

Ratio analysis can be used by financial executives to check upon the efficiency with which working capital is being used in the enterprise. 
The following are the important ratios to measure the efficiency of working capital. The following, easily calculated, ratios are important measures of working capital utilization. 
	Ratio
	Formulae
	Result 
	Interpretation

	Stock Turnover
(in days)
	Average Stock * 365/
Cost of Goods Sold
	= x days 
	On average, you turn over the value of your entire stock every x days. You may need to break this down into product groups for effective stock management.
Obsolete stock, slow moving lines will extend overall stock turnover days. Faster production, fewer product lines, just in time ordering will reduce average days.

	Receivables Ratio
(in days) 
	Debtors * 365/
Sales 
	= x days 
	It take you on average x days to collect monies due to you. If your official credit terms are 45 day and it takes you 65 days... why ?
One or more large or slow debts can drag out the average days. Effective debtor management will minimize the days.

	Payables Ratio
(in days) 
	Creditors * 365/
Cost of Sales (or Purchases)
	= x days 
	On average, you pay your suppliers every x days. If you negotiate better credit terms this will increase. If you pay earlier, say, to get a discount this will decline. If you simply defer paying your suppliers (without agreement) this will also increase - but your reputation, the quality of service and any flexibility provided by your suppliers may suffer.

	Current Ratio
	Total Current Assets/
Total Current Liabilities 
	= x times 
	Current Assets are assets that you can readily turn in to cash or will do so within 12 months in the course of business. Current Liabilities are amount you are due to pay within the coming 12 months. For example, 1.5 times means that you should be able to lay your hands on Rs.1.50 for every Rs.1.00 you owe. Less than 1 times e.g. 0.75 means that you could have liquidity problems and be under pressure to generate sufficient cash to meet oncoming demands.

	Quick Ratio
	(Total Current Assets - Inventory)/
Total Current Liabilities
	= x times 
	Similar to the Current Ratio but takes account of the fact that it may take time to convert inventory into cash.

	Working Capital Ratio
	(Inventory + Receivables - Payables)/
Sales
	As % Sales
	A high percentage means that working capital needs are high relative to your sales.



Other working capital measures include the following:

* Bad debts expressed as a percentage of sales.
* Cost of bank loans, lines of credit, invoice discounting etc.
* Debtor concentration - degree of dependency on a limited number of customers. 

Once ratios have been established for our business, it is important to track them over time and to compare them with ratios for other comparable businesses or industry sectors. 

A measure of both a company's efficiency and its short-term financial health, The working capital ratio is calculated as: 

Positive working capital means that the company is able to pay off its short-term liabilities. Negative working capital means that a company currently is unable to meet its short-term liabilities with its current assets (cash, accounts receivable, inventory).

If a company's current assets do not exceed its current liabilities, then it may run into trouble paying back creditors in the short term. The worst-case scenario is bankruptcy. A declining working capital ratio over a longer time period could also be a red flag that warrants further analysis. For example, it could be that the company's sales volumes are decreasing, and as a result, its accounts receivables number continues to get smaller and smaller.

Working capital also gives investors an idea of the company's underlying operational efficiency. Money that is tied up in inventory or money that customers still owe to the company cannot be used to pay off any of the company's obligations. So, if a company is not operating in the most efficient manner like slow collection, it will show up as an increase in the working capital. This can be seen by comparing the working capital from one period to another; slow collection may signal an underlying problem in the company's operations. 
2.6 DETERMINANTS OF WORKING CAPITAL

There are no rules or formulae to determine the working capital requirements of firms. A large numbers of factors influence working capital needs of a firm and has different importance per factor. Also the importance of factors changes for a firm over time. There for an analysis of relevant factors should be made to determine total investment in working capital. The following is description of factors which generally influence the working capital requirements of firms.

1. Nature of Business

In some business organization, the scales are mostly on a cash basis and the operating cycle is also very short. In the concerns the working capital requirement is comparatively less. Mostly services giving companies come in this category. In manufacturing concerns, usually the 

operating cycle is very long and a firm has to give credit to customers for improving scales. In such a case, the working capital requirement is more.

2. Nature of Raw Material Used
The nature of Raw Material used in the manufacture of finished goods greatly influences the quantum of Raw Material Inventory. For example, if the raw Material is an agricultural product whose availability is pronouncedly seasonal in character, the proportion of Raw Material Inventory to Finished Goods Inventory will be quite high.

Similarly companies using Imported Raw Materials with long lead time tend to have a high proportion of Raw Material Inventory. In the case of Capital Goods Manufacturing Company the demand for whose product is growing over time, the tendency will be to have high Inventory of Raw Material and Components.

3. Process Technology Used
In case the Raw Material has to go through several stages during the process of production, the Work-in-Progress Inventory is likely to be much higher than any other item of the Current Assets thereby increasing the need of Working Capital.

 

4. Nature of Finished Goods
The nature of Finished Goods greatly affects the amount of finished goods inventory. For example, if the finished goods have a short span of 'shelf-life' as in the case of cigarettes the finished goods inventory will constitute a very low percentage of current assets.

In the case of companies the demand for whose finished goods is seasonal in nature, as in the case of fans, the inventory of finished goods will constitute a high percentage of total current assets. This is mainly because from the point of view of the fixed costs to be incurred by the company it would be more economical to maintain an optimum level of production throughout the year than by stepping up production operations during the busy season.

 

5.  Degree of Competition in the Market
When the Degree of Competition in the market for finished goods in an industry is high, then companies belonging to the Industry may have to resort to an increased credit period to its customers, partially lowering credit standards and similar other practices to push their products. These practices are likely to result in a high proportion for Accounts Receivables thereby increasing the need for Working Capital.



6. Production Policy


Working capital requirement is also fluctuate according to production policy. Some products have seasonal demands but in order to eliminate the fluctuation in the working capital, the manufacture plans the production in steady flow throughout the year. This policy will even out the fluctuation in the working capital.

7. Market Conditions

Due to consumption in the market the demands for working capital fluctuate. In a comparatively environment, a business firm has to give liberal credit to customers. Similarly it will have to maintain a large inventory of finished goods to service the customers promptly. In this situation the large amount of working capital will require.

On other hand when, a firm will on seller’s market, it can manage with smaller amount of working capital because sales can be made on cash basis and there will be no need to maintain a large inventory on finished goods because the customers can be serviced with delay.

8. Seasonal Fluctuation

A firm who is producing the products with seasonal demands requires more working capital during peak seasons while the demand for working capital will go down during slack seasons.

9. Growth and expansion Activities

The working capital needs of the firm increase as it grows in terms of sales or fixed assets. A growing fund may need to invest funds in fixed assets in order to sustain its growth production and sales. This will in turn increase investments in current assets, which will result in increase working capital needs.

10. Operating efficiency

The operating efficiency of the firm relates to optimum utilization of resources at minimum cost. The firm will be effectively contributing to its working capital if it is efficient in controlling operating costs the working capital is better utilized and cash cycle is reduce which working capital needs.

11. Credit Policy

The working capital requirement of a firm is depend a great extend on the credit policy followed by a firm for its debtors. A liberal credit policy will result in huge funds blocked in debtors which will enhance the need for working capital.

2.7 ESTIMATION OF WORKING CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

"Working capital is the life blood & controlling nerve centre of a business."  No business can be successfully run without an adequate amount of working capital. 

· To avoid the shortage of working capital at once, an estimate of working capital requirement should be made in advance. 

· But estimation of working capital requirements is not an easy task & a large no. of factors has to be considered before starting this. 

Factors requiring consideration while estimating working capital
· The average credit period expected to be allowed by suppliers. 

· Total costs incurred on material, wages. 

· The length of time for which raw material are to remain in stores before they are issued for production. 

· The length of the production cycle (or) work in process. 

· The length of sales cycle during which finished goods are to be kept waiting for sales. 

· The average period of credit allowed to customers 

· The amount of cash required to make advance payment 

Estimating working capital needs is critical when starting up a new business, and when going through a period of growth and expansion.  By understanding the cycles a business goes through, and assigning some numbers to them, it is possible to come up with a realistic estimate of how much working capital you should have on hand.  And, when a business is experiencing financial difficulties, an analysis of these cycles and the impact they have on cash flow and resources enables taking the necessary steps to turn the situation around.

2.7.1 Working Capital Cycle and Cash Conversion Cycle
A production environment, whether large or small, may serve as a good example for defining the different stages a business operation goes through, from the time commitments are made for raw materials, supplies, and services, until payment is received from the customer for the final product sold.  

Working capital includes inventory, payables, and receivables, so the working capital cycle covers the period from when commitments are first made until payment is received from the customer.  The working capital cycle may differ from the cash conversion cycle, since goods and services may be purchased on credit; certain expenses such as salaries, wages, and utilities accrue during the period; and sales to the customer may be on credit terms.  So, the cash conversion cycle is the time from payment of accruals to collection of receivables.  It is the amount of time cash is tied up in the cycle, and not available for other purposes.

Throughout the process, incremental costs will continue to be added and will need to be financed with working capital until payment is received and the cycle is complete. For example, at the start of the production period the costs are in raw materials.  As production begins, costs for labor, supplies, and overhead are added.  When finished goods are placed in inventory, storage costs may be incurred.  And the sale of the products to customers may involve shipping costs, commissions, or other selling expenses.  Working capital requirements increase as the business cycle progresses.

2.7.2 Ongoing Cycles

Another point to take into consideration is that cycles are ongoing.  Purchases and collections may be made every day during the period, so the cycle for one particular product overlaps with the cycle for another product.  
The cycle is constantly repeating itself, and at any given point in time, each individual cycle will be at a different stage of completion.  The idea is to come up with a way to determine average balances for inventory, payables and receivables in order to determine an overall estimate of working capital needs.

2.7.3 Operating Cycle
In practical life, Sales never convert into Cash instantly; there is invariably a lag between the sale of goods and the receipt of cash. There is, therefore, a need of working capital in the form of current assets to deal with the problem arising out of the lack of immediate realization of cash against goods sold. Therefore, sufficient working capital is necessary to sustain sales activity. Technically, this is referred to as Operating or Cash Cycle. 
The Operating cycle can be said to be at the heart of the need of working capital. The continuing flow from cash to suppliers, to inventory, to accounts receivable and back to cash is what is called the operating cycle. In other words, the term cash cycle refers to the length of time necessary to complete the following cycle of events:-

1.       Conversion of Cash into Inventory
2.       Conversion of Inventory into Receivables
3.       Conversion of Receivables into Cash

The operating cycle which is a continuous process has been shown in the following figure.
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Figure 3

The Operating Cycle consists of 3 phases:-

1.       Phase 1
In Phase 1, Cash gets converted into Inventory. This includes purchase of Raw Material, Conversion of Raw Material into Work-in-Progress, Finished Goods and finally the transfer of goods to stock at the end of the manufacturing process. In the case of Trading Companies, this phase is shorter as there would be no manufacturing activity and cash is directly converted into Inventory. This Phase is of course totally absent in the case of Service Organizations.

 

2.       Phase 2
In Phase 2 of the cycle, the Inventory is converted into Receivables as Credit Sales are made to customers. Firms which do not sell on Credit obviously don't have the Phase 2 of the operating Cycle.

 

3.       Phase 3
The Last Phase i.e. Phase 3 of the Operating Cycle, represents the stage when Receivables are collected. This phase completes the operating cycle. Thus, the firm has moved from cash to inventory, to receivables and to cash again.

 

2.7.4 Breaking down the Cycle
The entire process starts with the receipt of raw materials.  If they are purchased on credit, there is a commitment, in terms of accounts payable, but a cash disbursement has not yet been made.  So in effect, the time from when a purchase commitment is made until the time the supplier is paid is really financing that the business is gaining, and serves to reduce the need for other sources of financing.

If production is not started immediately, there will be a period of time when raw materials are in inventory.  Once production starts, the raw materials will enter the next phase - the work-in-process inventory, where additional costs such as labor and utilities will be added.  The work-in process period ends when the products are completed and the production cycle ends with the finished goods inventory.

It may turn out that products are not sold immediately upon completion, so there is a period when finished products remain in inventory pending their sale.  And when sales are made, there may be a delivery period involved, and the sales may be on credit terms, so the process enters the final period in which accounts receivable are pending payment.  Once collection is made and payment is received from the customer, the cycle is complete.

So, the overall business cycle can be broken down as follows:

· Number of days raw materials are in inventory 

· Minus number of days of accounts payable to suppliers 

· Plus number of days in work-in-process 

· Plus number of days products are in finished goods inventory 

· Plus collection period from customers 

· Equals cash conversion period.

Once these periods are defined, calculations can be made to begin to develop an estimate of working capital needs.

2.7.5 Calculating Periods
In order to calculate the number of days involved in each part of the process, some estimates may have to be made.  The date may be available and it may need to be updated occasionally, in order to obtain a more realistic result.  Or it may simply need to be estimated.  The following formulas will indicate the figures that are needed.

The average number of days raw materials are in inventory can be calculated as:

· Average raw materials inventory / Average annual purchases x 365 = Days of raw materials inventory

Average days in work-in-process are calculated as:

· Average balance of work-in-process inventory / Average annual cost of production x 365 = Days of work-in-process inventory

Average days of finished goods inventory are:

· Average balance of finished goods inventory / Average annual cost of sales x 365 = Days of finished goods inventory

2.7.6 Terms with Suppliers and Customers

The other periods involved in the cycle are the average payment terms with suppliers for purchases of materials, the average payment period for other expenses, and the average credit terms with customers for sales.  With this information, the first stage of calculating working capital needs based on days of sales to finance is complete.  The next stage involves assigning values to these periods.

Number of Days

Based on the above calculations, an example could be generated, as follows:

· Days of raw materials inventory = 5 

· Days of work-in-process inventory = 15 

· Days of finished goods inventory = 10 

· Payment terms with suppliers = 30 

· Payment terms for other expenses = 10 

· Credit terms with customers = 45

This information may be available from historical records on production, or based on personal experience in the business.  Or it may be based on contractual terms, such as payment terms with suppliers and credit terms with customers.

2.7.7 Percentage Components of Sales Price
The next step is to express the final sales price of the product in terms of its component parts; that is, what part of the sales price is represented by raw materials and other expenses.  If it is assumed for purposes of this example that raw materials represent 20% of the final sales price and other expenses represent 50%, these percentages can then be applied to the number of days involved in each stage of the cycle, as previously determined, to calculate the number of days of sales that need to be financed.  For purposes of the example, it is assumed that work-in-process contains both the 20% component for raw materials and the 50% component for other expenses.  In practice, the costs invested in work-in-process depend on the stage of completion of the products in inventory.  It may be necessary to refine this aspect, based on the particular business and the level of information available.

Calculating Days Based on Percentage Components

Based on the foregoing information, the number of days involved in each separate period of the process times their corresponding percentage component of the sale price is as follows:

· Raw materials: 5 days x 20% = 1 day 

· Work-in-process: 15 days x 70% = 10.5 days 

· Finished goods: 10 days x 70% = 7 days 

· Suppliers: 30 days x 20% = 6 days (this number is subtracted) 

· Other expenses:  10 days x 50% =  5 days 

· Customers: 45 days x 70% = 31.5 days 

· Equals total number of days of sales to finance:  49 days

Calculating Days of Sales to Finance

The next step is to take the total estimated annual sales and express them in terms of sales per day.  For example:

Total annual sales of Rs.500,000 / 365 days = Rs.1,370 per day

The number of days of sales to finance (49 days) times sales of Rs.1,370 per day equals an estimated working capital requirement of Rs.67,130.

The above example outlines the general steps involved in estimating working capital requirements using this methodology, and by refining the date a closer approximation can be obtained. 

The two components of Working Capital are current assets and current liabilities. They have a direct bearing on the cash operating cycle. In order to calculate the working capital needs what is required is the holding period of various types of inventories, the credit collection period and the credit payment period. Working Capital also depends on the budgeted level of activity in terms of production/sales. The calculation of Working Capital is based on the assumption that the production sales is carried on evenly throughout the year and all costs accrue similarly. As the Working Capital requirements are related to the cost excluding Depreciation and not to the sale price, Working Capital is computed with reference to the Cash Cost. The Cash Cost approach is comprehensive and superior to the operating cycle approach based on the holding period of debtors and Inventories and payment period of creditors.

 

Thus, to estimate the Working Capital Requirements of an organization, we need to estimate the following:-
1.       Estimation of Current Assets

2.       Estimation of Current Liabilities

ESTIMATION OF CURRENT ASSETS
Raw Material Inventory
The Investment in Raw Material can be computed with the help of the following formula:-

 

Budgeted Production                     Cost of Raw Material(s)                                Average Inventory Holding
(In Units)             X                             per unit                                X               Period (months/days)
12months / 365 days
 

Work-in-Progress Inventory
The Investment in Work-in-Progress Inventory can be computed with the help of the following formula:-

 

Budgeted Production                    Estimated Work-in-Progress                       Average time span of Work-in-
(In Units)          X                        cost per unit                      X           Progress Inventory (months/days)
12months / 365 days
Finished Goods Inventory
The Investment in Finished Goods Inventory can be computed with the help of the following formula:-

 
Budgeted Production                 Cost of Goods                                  Finished Goods Holding
(In Units)           X          Produced per unit          X                        Period (months/days)
12months / 365 days
 
Debtors
The Investment in Debtors can be computed with the help of the following formula:-

 

Budgeted Credit Sales                  Cost of Sales                             Average Debt Collection
(In Units)          X         per unit               X                  Period (months/days)
12months / 365 days
 

Cash and Bank Balances
Apart from Working Capital needs for Financing Inventories and Debtors, Firms also find it useful to have such minimum cash Balances with them. It is difficult to lay down the exact procedure of determining such an amount. This would primarily be based on the motives of holding cash balances of the business firm, attitude of management towards risk, the access to the borrowing sources in times of need and past experience.

Estimation of Current Liabilities
The Working Capital needs of business firms are lower to the extent that such needs are met through the Current Liabilities(other than Bank Credit) arising in the ordinary course of business. The Important Current Liabilities in this context are Trade-Creditors, Wages and Overheads:-

 

Trade Creditors
The Funding of Working Capital from Trade Creditors can be computed with the help of the following formula:-

 

Budgeted Yearly Production               Cost of Raw Material(s)               Credit Period allowed by
(In Units)            X       ____________     per unit                X         Creditors (months/days)
                                              12months / 365 days
Note:-Proportional adjustment should be made to cash purchases of Raw Materials
 
Direct Wages
The Funding of Working Capital from Direct Wages can be computed with the help of the following formula:-

 

Budgeted Yearly Production                  Direct Labor Cost                          Average Time Lag in Payment
(In Units)                   X             per unit                         X               of Wages (months/days)
                                        12months / 365 days
 

Note:-The average Credit Period for the payment of wages approximates to half-a-month in the case of monthly wage payment. The first days monthly wages are paid on the 30th, extending credit for 29 days, the second days wages are, again , paid on the 30th day, extending credit for 28 days, and so on. Average credit period approximates to half-a-month.
Overheads (other than Depreciation and Amortization)
The Funding of Working Capital from Overheads can be computed with the help of the following formula:-

Budgeted Yearly Production        Overhead Cost                         Average Time Lag in Payment
(In Units)                X             per unit                 X       of Overheads (months/days)
                                        12months / 365 days
 
Note:-The amount of Overheads may be separately calculated for different types of Overheads. In the case of Selling Overheads, the relevant item would be sales volume instead of Production Volume.
Activity 2 

1. Discuss various components of working capital.
2. Throw light on working capital policy. Illustrate the working capital policy of an organisation.
3. Give a detailed account of various working capital ratios.
4. What are various determinants of working capital? How can you estimate working capital requirements?

2.8 summary

In this unit we discussed various requirements of efficient working capital management. The unit first explains various components of working capital and then moves on discussing the working capital policy. Further unit gives the introduction to working capital ratios. Stock Turnover ratio, Receivables Ratio, Payables Ratio, Current Ratio, Quick Ratio, Working Capital Ratio were discussed with their suitable interpretations. 
Next area of concern of the unit was the determinants of working capital requirements which include the nature of Business, nature of raw material used, Process Technology used,  Nature of Finished Goods, Degree of Competition in the Market , Production Policy, Market Conditions, Seasonal Fluctuation, Growth and expansion Activities, Operating efficiency and Credit Policy of the firm. Finally unit describes estimation of working capital requirements with suitable examples.
2.9 further readings
· Beranek, W. Analysis of financial decisions, Richard D Irwin, 1963.
· Hampton J.J. and C.L Wanger. Working capital management, John Wiley and sons, 1989

· Scherr. F.C. Modern working capital management. Prentice hall. 1989

UNIT 3
ELEMENTS OF CASH MANAGEMENT
Objectives

After studying this unit you should be able to:
· Discuss the importance and concept of cash management
· Understand elements of cash management program

· Know the importance of investments in cash management and its types

· Explain the cash systems and cash collection systems  
· Analyze the cash concentration strategies
· Have the knowledge of disbursement of cash
Structure

3.1 Introduction

3.2 Importance of cash management
3.3 Elements of an effective cash management program
3.4 Investments and their types
3.5 Cash Systems
3.6 Cash collection systems

3.7 Cash concentration strategies

3.8 Cash disbursement

3.9 Summary

3.10 Further readings
3.1 Introduction

Cash is money that is easily accessible either in the bank or in the business. It is not inventory, it is not accounts receivable, and it is not property. These might be converted to cash at some point in time, but it takes cash on hand or in the bank to pay suppliers, to pay the rent, and to meet the payroll. Profit growth does not always mean more cash. 

Profit is the amount of money you expect to make if all customers paid on time and if your expenses were spread out evenly over the time period being measured. However, it is not your day-to-day reality. Cash is what you must have to keep the doors of your business open. Over time, a company's profits are of little value if they are not accompanied by positive net cash flow. You can't spend profit; you can only spend cash.

Cash Flow refers to the flow of cash into and out of a business over a period of time. The outflow of cash is measured by the money you pay every month to salaries, suppliers, and creditors. The inflows are the cash you receive from customers, lenders, and investors.

Positive Cash Flow 

If the cash coming into the business is more than the cash going out of the business, the company has a positive cash flow. A positive cash flow is very good and the only concern here is managing the excess cash prudently. 
Negative Cash Flow 

If the cash going out of the business is more than the cash coming into the business, the company has a negative cash flow. A negative cash flow can be caused by a number of problems that result in a shortage of cash, such as too much or obsolete inventory, or poor collections on accounts receivable. If the company doesn't have money in the bank or can't borrow additional cash at this point, it may be in serious trouble. 
3.2 Importance of Cash Management 

Cash management consists of taking the necessary actions to maintain adequate levels of cash to meet operational and capital requirements and to obtain the maximum yield on short-term investments of pooled, idle cash.  A good cash management program is a very significant component of the overall financial management of any firm.  Such a program benefits the organisation by increasing revenues, improving the control and superintendence of cash, increasing contacts with members of the financial community and lowering borrowing costs, while at the same time maintaining the safety of the organisation’s funds.

Business analysts report that poor management is the main reason for business failure. Poor cash management is probably the most frequent stumbling block for entrepreneurs. Understanding the basic concepts of cash flow will help you plan for the unforeseen eventualities that nearly every business faces.

3.2.1 Cash vs. Cash Flow

Cash is ready money in the bank or in the business. It is not inventory, it is not accounts receivable (what you are owed), and it is not property. These can potentially be converted to cash, but can't be used to pay suppliers, rent, or employees.

Profit growth does not necessarily mean more cash on hand. Profit is the amount of money you expect to make over a given period of time, while cash is what you must have on hand to keep your business running. Over time, a company's profits are of little value if they are not accompanied by positive net cash flow. You can't spend profit; you can only spend cash.

Good cash management is simple. It involves:

1. Knowing when, where, and how your cash needs will occur

2. Knowing the best sources for meeting additional cash needs

3. Being prepared to meet these needs when they occur, by keeping good relationships with bankers and other creditors

The starting point for good cash flow management is developing a cash flow projection. Smart business owners know how to develop both short-term (weekly, monthly) cash flow projections to help them manage daily cash, and long-term (annual, 3-5 year) cash flow projections to help them develop the necessary capital strategy to meet their business needs. They also prepare and use historical cash flow statements to understand how they used money in the past.

3.2.2 The Goals of Cash Management 

The primary goals of a good cash management system are:

· To maintain adequate monies at hand to meet the daily cash requirements of the municipality while maximizing the amount available for investment.  

· To obtain the maximum earnings on invested funds while ensuring their safety. 

In order to reach these primary goals, a treasurer should strive to:

1. Develop strong, internal control of cash receipts and disbursements. 

2. Establish improved procedures for collecting outstanding taxes. 

3. Establish clear lines of communication between the treasurer and department heads. 

4. Develop solid professional relationships with local bankers and other members of the investment community. 

3.3 Elements of an Effective Cash Management Program 

In order to practice an effective cash management, following elements are suggested to be focused:

1. Bank Relations 

The treasurer should strive to be constantly aware of the range of services available from area banks.  Since banks’ service charges and investment rates vary, the treasurer should regularly evaluate the charges and rates of the banks used by the municipality to make certain that continuing to utilize these banks best serves the interests of the municipality.  When selling bonds or notes, the treas​urer should endeavor to receive a sufficient number of bids to ensure competi​tive rates for the borrowed funds.  Whether borrowing or investing monies, the treasurer should solicit bids from at least 3 area banks.

The treasurer should critically review bank statements for treasury checking accounts and should funnel all activity into one account when possible.  Also, the treasurer should utilize a uniform system of forms and proce​dures for all collection, deposit, and disbursement activities.  

2. Cash Flow Statements 

As a component of implementing an effective cash management program, the treas​urer must prepare a cash flow statement, also called a cash budget.  Cash budgeting involves the estimation of cash receipts and cash dis​bursements to determine cash availability.  A treasurer can best identify the municipality’s major cash items by examining an annual budget, payment and collection records and past cash flow patterns.  

3. Estimating Collection Receipts 

Local taxes and state and federal grants constitute the primary sources of municipal funds.  By reviewing a municipality’s treasury and accounting rec​ords, a treasurer can determine the pattern of receipts of that municipality.  To assist in determining this pattern, the treasurer should develop a table that displays: (1) the type of each receipt, (2) the total amount of the receipt and (3) the month when each portion of the receipt was received.  If the treasurer traces the cash flow back 2 or 3 years, a recog​nizable pattern should become apparent.
The treasurer should assess the historical patterns of these cash flows in light of current esti​mates and events.  Although making adjustments for changing time environments is uncertain business, attempting to make such adjustments should improve a collections forecast. 

4. Forecasting Disbursements 

Municipal payrolls account for approximately 70% of the expenditures of most cities and towns.  These expenditures tend to be relatively constant; accordingly, they can be relia​bly predicted.  A treasurer should use prior payroll records, together with the next fiscal year’s budget, to calculate the amount of the annual payroll. 

The gross payroll, however, is not the amount disbursed.  Rather, the amount disbursed is the gross payroll amount less deductions for federal and state income taxes and for fringe benefits, such as workers com​pensation and retirement.  The payroll disbursement forecast should also include adjustments for seasonal or temporary workers and for seasonal payments, such as vacation advances in the summer months.  If a municipality offers a lump sum payment option for teachers, the payments are disbursed at the end of the school year.

Disbursement of monies previously withheld for income taxes and for employee benefits constitutes a signifi​cant payment by a municipality.  To forecast the amount of this disbursement for some discrete period, such as from July 1 through January 1, the treasurer must add all of the deductions from a weekly or biweekly pay​roll and multiply the sum by the number of pay periods falling within the designated time period.

As part of forecasting disbursements for personnel costs, the treasurer should attempt to estimate the actual cash disbursement if that disbursement deviates from the bud​geted or authorized amount.  Budgeted amounts can change only with supple​mental appropriations, while authorized amounts can change with the increase or decrease of actual employees.  

After completing the payroll disbursement forecast, the treasurer should develop forecasts for other kinds of payments.  The treasurer might begin by analyzing each departmental budget for non-payroll items and then focusing on the more expensive items first.  For each item, the treasurer should converse with the departmental officials familiar with expenditures to discover the pattern of past cash dis​bursements with respect to that item and the anticipated pattern and amount of expenditure for the item for the upcoming year.  The treasurer, based upon a greater familiarity with the timing and volume of cash outflows, should ensure that these patterns and expenditure projections are reasonable.   

5. Analyzing Cash Flow and Preparing a Budget 

At a minimum, a treasurer should prepare cash flow data on a monthly basis for the current year.  In larger communities, the treasurer should compile cash flow information more frequently, on a daily, weekly, or biweekly basis, depending on the size of the community.

The treasurer should prepare cash flow summaries using two basic categories of inflows and out​flows of cash, recurring and extraordinary.  Recurring payments and receipts, such as payroll expenses and property taxes payments, can be anticipated regularly, month after month; extraordinary payments and receipts, on the other hand, result from nonrecurring programs or items, such as federal grants or capital expenditures.

The treasurer should use the history of major collections and dis​bursements for the previous 3 to 5 years to identify recurring expense and disbursement patterns.  The treasurer should then extrapolate these past trends into the future, being careful, at the same time, to make adjustments for anticipated changes in timing and payment patterns and to recognize when particular historical data is not representative.

Analyzing the municipality’s current operating budget, looking particularly for the percentage increase in payroll and in other expendi​tures, for changes in seasonal spending patterns and for adjustments caused by the addition or deletion of programs, will provide crucial information for prepar​ing a cash flow analysis.  Also, examining the capital budget and communi​cating with department heads will assist in making projections concerning special cash flow items.  Of course, analyzing historical information is of little assistance in projecting special revenues and expenditures in a cash flow analysis.

Because cash availability is the fundamental concern of cash management, some treasurers are very conservative in estimating receipts of funds and liberal in estimating disbursements when they prepare a cash budget.  For instance, they might budget a receipt expected to be taken in at the end of a month as being received the follow​ing month.  Certainly, it is better to err on the con​servative side. Notwithstanding, accuracy is critical in estimating and managing a municipality’s cash.

3.3.1 Suggestions for Improving Cash Flow 

The treasurer can maximize the amount of a municipality’s available cash by accelerating cash re​ceipts.  A treasurer can increase the available cash amount by: 

· Making daily deposits. 

· Using a lock box. 

· Receiving wire transfers of state aid. 

· Applying promptly for reimbursement of state/federal grants. 

· Utilizing, direct deposits, Automated Clearing House payments, and other electronic means of transferring funds, whenever possible, making sure that the appropriate safeguards are in effect. 

The treasurer should induce municipal departments with large cash receipts to make deposits directly into an account specified by the treasurer, providing the treasurer with a written notice of each deposit, together with the deposit receipt provided by the bank.  This practice will result not only in an earlier deposit of the funds, but also in a more accurate deposit record since the bank will check the accuracy of the deposit slip.

The treasurer should ensure that checks for large amounts are deposited immediately.  If, for example, a tax collector receives tax escrow payments from a mortgagee bank at a time when the collector is too busy to process them, the treasurer should instruct the collector to prepare a deposit slip and deposit the bank check immediately, retaining a dupli​cate copy of the deposit slip with the payment breakdown.  In this way, the money will be available for invest​ment right away, and the collector can process the payment information whenever convenient. 

The treasurer should urge the collector to make use of tax takings and other tax payment enforcement remedies allowed by law to expedite the collection of unpaid taxes.  The treasurer should actively proceed with tax foreclosures and with land of low value sales in accordance with the best interests of the municipality. 

The treasurer can also improve cash flow by working with department heads to schedule certain cash dis​bursements.  For example, if a municipality has appropriated money to the public works department for the purchase of new trucks, the treasurer should encourage the department head to arrange for delivery of the trucks no earlier than late April, close to the due date of the 2nd semiannual tax payments or the 4th quarterly tax payments, when funds will be on hand to pay for those trucks.  Such planning minimizes the need for revenue anti​cipation borrowing.

When possible, the treasurer should first pay bills that offer discounts, postponing the payments of other bills until the due date.  Also, when market con​ditions permit, the treasurer should schedule the issuance of debt to make the payment due dates coincide with times when the community’s cash revenues are at their maximums.  The treasurer should require all capital project managers to provide regular reports of project payment schedules, permitting the treasurer to obtain maximum earnings on project funds.

3.3.2 Effectively Investing Available Cash 

The treasurer can invest all monies not required for current operations so as to receive the highest rate of return reasonably available taking into account safety, liquidity and yield.  To maximize interest income, the treasurer must determine how much money is availa​ble to invest by answering the following questions:

· How much cash is on hand? 

· How much money is needed to meet weekly or monthly warrants? 

· How much money will be deposited weekly or monthly? 

The treasurer should use the answers to these questions as a basis for planning investments.  By maintaining a chart of deposit accounts, such as the bank ledger discussed in Chapter 3, adding the daily deposits to these accounts, and sub​tracting amounts transferred or paid on warrants, the treasurer can determine exactly how much cash is available to invest.  Furthermore, the cash flow budget will permit the treasurer to determine the length of time for which particular funds can remain in investments.

3.3.3 The Yield Curve 

The cost of money varies according to the length of time for which it is borrowed or loaned.  Generally, longer time periods are deemed to have a greater risk associated with them and thus command higher interest rates.  This phenomenon, of course, favors a municipality when making long-term investments and disfavors the community when making long-term borrowings.  Accordingly, treasurers should use cash flow budgets to design investments for the longest reasonable periods in order to obtain the highest yields on these investments.

Treasurers should attempt to be constantly aware of the various interest rates offered by area banks.  They should regularly communicate with these banks and ask to be on their mailing lists for publications about bank services and about interest rates on differ​ent types of investments over varying time periods.  Treasurers should also visit the websites of area banks to review information about interest rates and bank products.

3.4 INVESTMENTS AND their types

An investment is a placement or commitment of money or capital in a way intended to gain profit or interest, as by purchasing property, securities or bonds.  As noted above, treasurers are compelled to invest “all monies…not required to be kept liquid for purposes of distribution…in such a manner as to require the payment of interest on the money at the highest possible rate reasonably available, taking account of safety liquidity and yield.”  Liquidity is the quality of being readily convertible into cash with​out substantial transaction costs.  Security is the quality of assurance that the investment expectation will be fulfilled in a timely fashion.  Yield is the measure of effective return on an investment, usually expressed as a percent.

Many communities maintain written investment policies that serve as a guideline in making investments of short-term funds.  These policies delineate investment procedures and considerations and define levels of acceptable risk.  Frequently, the policies identify the financial institutions that have satisfied the community’s criteria for secure deposits.  In addition, the policies generally include specific information about delegation of authority, internal controls, ethics and conflict of interest. 

Ultimately, the standard to which a treasurer is held in making investments is the “prudent person” standard.  A treasurer should always remember to weigh the risk of financial loss when making municipal investments.  When investing a municipality’s money, the treasurer should carefully avoid high-risk or speculative investments, even if legally permitted.

A treasurer who deposits monies into these institutions will not be personally liable for any loss of money due to the failure of the institutions. Notwithstanding, a prudent treasurer must make certain that deposits and investments are sufficiently insured, adequately collateralized and invested in institutions that have been researched for stability and safety.  

The FDIC insures deposits in FDIC-insured institutions.  All types of deposits received by insured institutions in their usual course of business are insured up to Rs.100,000 per deposit, including savings deposits, checking deposits, deposits in NOW accounts and time deposits, including CDs.  In the case of a bank failure, the FDIC insurance protects deposits that are payable in the U.S.  The treasurer should communicate with the FDIC to determine whether separately named accounts are considered as separate deposits for the purposes of applying the Rs.100,000 limit.

In the past, a number of governmental entities incurred significant losses due to inadequately secured investments.  In order to remedy this situation, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement 3, which requires governmental entities to disclose their policies regarding securitization and safekeeping for deposits and investments, including repurchase agreements, better enabling investors to assess the degree of risk more accurately.  These disclosures must inform potential investors about situations in which a greater credit risk exists during the investment period than on the balance sheet date.

Cities and towns should disclose the amount of their total bank balances that are:

· Insured or collateralized with securities held by the municipality or by an agent in the municipality’s name. 

· Collateralized with securities held by their financial institutions or by an agent in the municipality’s name. 

· Uncollateralized. 

The carrying amount and the market value of investments should also be disclosed for each type of investment as of the balance sheet date.  The disclosure should state the total amount of each type of investment and should categorize investments that are:

· Insured or registered or held by the municipality or its agent in the municipality’s name. 

· Uninsured or unregistered, with the securities held by the counterparty in the municipality’s name. 

· Uninsured or unregistered, with the securities held by the counterparty but not in the municipality’s name. 

3.4.1 Certificates of Deposit 

Certificates of Deposit, generally known as a CD, is a written acknowledgement by a commercial bank, savings and loan institution or mutual savings bank containing a promise to pay interest at a speci​fied rate for a fixed period of time for funds deposited in the institution.  CDs provide a useful instrument for short-term investments, usu​ally more than 7 days.  They are available in almost any denomination, although most have a mini​mum amount.  The bank pays inter​est on the certificate’s face value, and the interest accrues on a 360-day or 365-day basis.  
Rates vary depend​ing on the length of time for which the certificates are issued, the amount of money deposited and the prevailing market rate.  Rates also vary among banks, making it important for treasurers to obtain quotes from a number of banks before making a purchase.

Because monies are deposited in a CD for a fixed term, the instrument is not considered a liquid investment.  A bank can legally refuse to return the money before the maturity date.  If a bank allows redemption before the maturity date, the municipality must pay a sub​stantial, early withdrawal penalty.  Accordingly, a treasurer should only purchase a CD when it is very probable that the municipality will not have to spend the money during the CD’s fixed term.

On the other hand, if a municipality can afford to tie up money for fixed period, a CD provides an effective vehicle for obtaining fixed interest rates for that period. Of course, timing the purchase of a CD is important since interest rates vary dramatically.  
The treasurer should strive to make the purchase when interest rates are high.  The municipality will then con​tinue to earn the high rate until the CD’s maturity.  On the other hand, if the treasurer purchases a CD when interest rates are low, the instrument will earn interest at the low rate.

3.4.2 Treasury Bills 

Treasury bills are bearer obligations of the Government that are issued on a discount basis; that is, a purchaser buys the instruments at less than the face value and receives the face value upon redemption.  The dif​ference between the purchase price and the redemption price is the interest income.  Treasury bills are backed by the full faith and credit of the Government and are con​sidered the safest investment.  Because of their relative safety and marketa​bility, T-Bills, as they are called, generally provide lower yields than do comparable short-term investments.

3.4.3 Repurchase Agreement 

A repurchase agreement, also known as a “repo” or a “buyback,” is a contract that requires a seller of securities, most often treasury securities, to buy the investment back in the future at a designated time and price.  An advantage of this investment vehicle is the flexibility of its maturity.  A repo may be sold for a fixed period of time, on demand, or renewable on a day-to-day basis. 
If we see the U.S system, the authority of a municipal treasurer to invest in repurchase agreements is set out in Ch. 44 §55.  This statute permits the treasurer to invest in “obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by the United States government or any agency thereof and having a maturity from date of purchase of one year or less, or in United States government securities or securities of United States government agencies purchased under an agreement with a trust company, national bank or banking company to repurchase at not less than the original purchase price of said securities on a fixed date, not to exceed ninety days.”

However, while repos offer flexibility in maturity dates, they are not without risk.  In the past, some banks have used the same security for several, simultaneous repurchase agreements.  Accordingly, when investing in a repo, the treasurer should make certain to take possession of the underlying security or to receive written notification of the transaction from a third-party trustee who holds the security on behalf of the municipality.  In this way, the municipality will be protected in the case of a bank default.

3.4.4 Money Market Deposit Accounts (MMDAs) 

A money market account is a savings account that shares some of the characteristics of a money market fund, a mutual fund that invests solely in short-term securities.  These accounts, like other saving accounts, are insured by the Federal government up to Rs.100,000.  

Banks generally place restrictions on money market accounts.  The restrictions usually include:

· A minimum daily balance requirement, with an interest rate reduction if the balance falls below this minimum. 

· A limit on the number of withdrawals, such as 6 per month with a maximum of 3 checks.  Under such a limit, a depositor could, for example, write 3 checks and make 3 withdrawal transfers in a month.  Alternatively, the depositor might write 2 checks and make 4 withdrawal transfers and two checks, etc. 

MMDA accounts provide an ideal investment vehicle to obtain moderate yields while keeping funds liquid.  Every munici​pality should have at least one money market account.  It is up to the treasurer to deter​mine how much money should be kept in these accounts. 

3.4.5 Agency Obligations 

Agency obligations, also referred to as “agency securities” are debt instruments issued by government agencies to fund loans to particular groups of borrowers, such as students, farmers and homebuyers.  
Agency obligations include the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac), the Federal Home Loan Bank System (FHLB), the Federal Farm Credit Bank (FFCB), and the Student Loan Marketing Association (Sallie Mae.  Agency obligations generally yield high credit ratings because of their association with the federal government; however, they are not government obligations backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government.  
Accordingly, agency obligations are slightly riskier than Treasuries, but they also have the potential for higher earnings.  

3.4.6 Secondary Markets 

Primary markets allow investors to bid directly for the purchase of securities with issuers and, as a result, tend to provide more favora​ble prices.  Secondary markets permit investors to purchase securities at other times than their issuance dates or to sell securities prior to their maturity dates.  

General economic conditions affect interest rates, which in turn determine the market behavior of securities in both primary and second​ary markets.  Confidence in a particular security can also affect its behavior.  Confidence is determined by an investor’s perception of the financial health of an institution or the collateral behind a security.  It tends to be most important in determining the strength and activity of a security in the secondary market.  For instance, Treasury Bills are always very active in both primary and secondary markets because they are backed by the U.S. Government.  
Under​standing how markets behave under a variety of conditions and gaining a feel for how various securi​ties will be affected is a skill acquired through day-to-day experience, as well as by a study of the characteristics of securities.

3.4.7 Mutual Fund Money Market Accounts 

The underlying securities of the funds must be within the guidelines approved by the Commonwealth, similar to securities that would appear on the “legal list” of investments.  The statute limits investment to those money market funds that have received the highest possible rating from at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

3.4.8 Investment in Marketable Securities

Investing in marketable securities has become increasingly popular because many see it as a means to achieve their financial goals. Some invest in these vehicles for long-term growth or to preserve purchasing power. Others require income, while some desire speculative short-term profit. Although investors’ expectations differ, financial planners will seek to match specific objectives with the appropriate vehicle. However, selecting the most suitable security is not an easy task, because each investment has different risk and return characteristics.

Marketable securities are often called financial assets. The term is used to describe either debt or equity instruments. For clarification, the opposite of a financial asset is a real asset. Real assets-apartments, office buildings, and airplanes are tangible. IOUs and stock certificates are not, rather, financial assets represent an indirect claim on real assets. They can also be categorized according to who issued the security, such as a government agency or a public corporation.

Marketable securities include many diverse vehicles including government obligations, stocks, bonds, options, and real estate investment trusts. Some are conservative, while others are as risky as rolling dice. What these assets have in common is liquidity. Typically they can be quickly turned into cash at current market value.

Marketable securities are included in short-term investment and other investments on the Balance Sheet.

The securities are bonds of triple A rated issuers and are held by a custodian. Through a further asset based swap the cash inflows from the securities are transformed into the cash flow stream required to match a specified portion of the lease payments. 
The securities are pledged to counterparty in the swap agreement. No sales of securities held-to-maturity occurred in 2004, 2003 and 2002. The interest rates on the securities are fixed and range from 5.65% to 9.01%. Accrued interest is recorded as interest income. The securities will mature between 2006 and 2011. 
	 
	 
	Gross
	Gross
	 

	
	Amortized
	unrealized
	unrealized
	Fair

	At December 31, 2004 
	cost
	holding gains
	holding losses
	value

	
	

	Non-current assets
	

	Available-for-sale
	
	
	

	   debt securities
	4,955
	176
	4
	5,127

	   equity securities
	1,658
	-
	-
	1,658

	   mutual funds
	13,342
	1
	472
	12,871

	Held-to-maturity
	120,946
	12,919
	-
	133,865

	
	

	At December 31, 2003
	 
	 
	 
	 

	
	

	Non-current assets
	

	Available-for-sale
	
	
	

	   debt securities
	4,702
	168
	-
	4,870

	   equity securities
	6,914
	2,646
	605
	8,955

	   mutual funds
	5,679
	2
	163
	5,518

	Held-to-maturity
	124,951
	16,596
	-
	141,547

	

	

	The contractual maturities of debt securities classified as held-to-maturity at December 31, 2004 were as follows:

	

	 
	Amortized
	 
	 
	Fair

	 
	cost
	 
	 
	value

	
	

	Held-to-maturity
	
	
	

	   Due within one year
	5,063
	 
	 
	5,134

	   Due after one year through five years
	59,237
	 
	 
	64,152

	   Due after five years through ten years
	56,646
	 
	 
	64,579

	 
	120,946
	 
	 
	133,865


Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities amounted to EUR 8,740 and EUR 545 in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Gross realized gains from sales of available-for-sale securities were EUR 2,124 in 2004, gross realized losses from sales of available-for-sale securities were EUR 3 in 2004. The specific identification method was used to determine the cost in computing realized gains and losses.

The unrealized losses on the investment in mutual funds, corporate bonds and equity securities were caused by fluctuations in the capital markets. The Company considers the fluctuation of the fair value of these investments to be temporary and therefore did not record impairment. Presented below is the fair value information for marketable securities held by the Company: 

	
	
	Less than 12 months
	
	12 months or longer
	
	Total

	
	
	Gross
	
	Gross
	
	Gross

	
	
	unrealized
	
	unrealized
	
	unrealized

	At December 31, 2004     
	Fair value
	holding losses
	Fair value
	holding losses
	Fair value
	holding losses

	
	

	Non-current assets
	

	Available-for-sale
	

	   debt corporate securities     
	1,068
	4
	-
	-
	1,068
	4

	   equity securities
	-
	-
	1,012
	18
	1,012
	18

	   mutual funds
	-
	-
	8,963
	454
	8,963
	454

	Total temporarily 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	impaired securities  
	1,068
	4
	9,975
	472
	11,043
	476


3.5 CASH SYSTEMS

The amount of cash you have on hand is one of the most important metrics for the growth and survival of your company. As a business owner three of your primary financial responsibilities are:

· Being aware of the business’ cash position 

· Actively guiding the business towards attaining more cash 

· Maximizing the return on cash reserves

To put it simply, you need to know where your cash is, plan its path through the business and how to make the most of every rupees.

Think of cash as the fuel that runs your business. Lacking cash can leave you stranded on the side of the road while the competition zooms by. A business, like a car, won’t go anywhere without fuel. The last thing you want is to be walking for miles with that gas can in your hand.

Accordingly, you must be aware of how much fuel you have in your tank at any time. You must understand the efficiency in which your business is burning it, where your next fill-up is coming from, and how well your reserves are performing. How do you monitor all this? By implementing an effective cash management system; which forms a part of every well managed company’s financial controls.

3.5.1 A Cash Control System

Managing this vital component requires the use of simple, well-documented control systems for the money flowing through the business. It needn’t be an overly complex system, but it must cover two categories: money coming in and money going out.

Money coming into the business includes:
· Sales Receipts 

· Cash Handling 

· Credit Transactions 

· Invoicing and Accounts Receivable 

· Collections

 Money going out of the business includes:
· Purchasing 

· Accounts Payable 

· Inventory Control 

· Payroll 

Keeping the Cash Flowing In Every Stage of Business

The complexity of your cash management systems will depend on your business’ stage of development.  

In the infancy or young stage of a business, you’re likely to experience periods of growth. Your cash is cycled from revenue to expense very quickly during this time, allowing just enough cash flow to add resources or fulfill demand. If at any point during this stage, there is a major cash shortage, you could be in big trouble. Your cash management system provides an early detection system for such events and allows you to make adjustments before it’s too late.

As your business matures, your cash management priorities shift slightly from a purely internal perspective to a more balanced internal and external focus. Cash on hand and meeting the day-to-day needs of your business is always top priority, but cash is too valuable to be sitting around doing nothing. Businesses with cash reserves can create competitive advantages through joint ventures, acquisitions, research and development, traditional savings and smart investments. While many of these activities may seem more likely for large public corporations, by focusing your efforts in a similar fashion, cash savvy small companies can leverage their cash position as a competitive strategy.

Where do you start?

The fastest way to get your cash and related money management systems in place is to perform a quick audit of your current systems. From there you can create an action plan to get from where you are, to where you need to be.

Begin by assigning a performance score to rank each component of your cash system according to how well it meets its intended goal After you’ve scored each component, or sub-system, prioritize the list in terms of relevancy and urgency. This becomes your development plan for making improvements.

For example, a retail client of mine recently set up a ranking system from -10 to +10, and ranked her cash management systems as follows:

· Sales Receipts +10 

· Cash Handling +10 

· Credit Transactions 0 

· Invoicing and Accounts Receivable -5 

· Collections -10 

· Purchasing -10 

· Accounts Payable 0 

· Inventory Control  -5 

· Payroll +10

After a careful consideration of which systems would affect her cash flow fastest she prioritized her system development as follows: inventory control, invoicing and accounts receivable, credit transactions, collections, purchasing and accounts payable. This simple step gave her a clear path towards improving all her cash management systems. Of course, each business is different, but this same ranking system and prioritizing your development will lead to the same result my client achieved: a feeling of comfort and calmness, as she experienced a sense of control over all areas of her cash systems.

3.6 CASH COLLECTION SYSTEMS

Cash collection systems aim to reduce the time it takes to collect the cash that is owed to the firm (for example, from its customers). The time delays are categorized as mail float, processing float, and bank float. Obviously, an envelope mailed by a customer containing payment to a supplier firm does not arrive at its destination instantly. Likewise, the moment the firm receives payment it is not deposited in its bank account. And finally, when the payment is deposited in the bank account oftentimes the bank does not give immediate availability to the funds. These three "floats" are time delays that add up quickly, requiring the firm in the meantime to find cash elsewhere to pay its bills. Cash management attempts to decrease the time delays in collection at the lowest cost. A collection receipt point closer to the customer, such as a lock box, with an outside third-party vendor to receive, process, and deposit the payment (check) will speed up the collection. For example, if a firm collects Rs.10 million each day and can permanently speed up collections by five days, at 6 percent interest rates, then annual before-tax profits would increase by Rs.3 million. The techniques to analyze this case would utilize data involving where the customers were; how much and how often they pay; the bank they remit checks from; the collection sites the firm has (their own or a third-party vendor); the costs of processing payments; the time delays involved for mail, processing, and banking; and the prevailing interest rate that can be earned on excess funds. 

Once the money has been collected, most firms then proceed to concentrate the cash into one center. The rationale for such a move is to have complete control of the cash and to provide greater investment opportunities with larger sums of money available as surplus. There are numerous mechanisms that can be employed to concentrate the cash, such as wire transfers, automated clearinghouse transfers, and checks. The tradeoff is between cost and time. 

Disbursement is the opposite of collection. Here, the firm strives to slow down payments. It wants to increase mail delays and bank delays, and it has no control over processing delay. 

Products Offered by Banks under Collections (Paper and Electronic)
· Local cheque collections

· High value (0 Day clearing)

· Magnetic ink character recognition (MICR) (three day clearing of cheque)

· Outstation cheque collections 

· Cheques drawn on branch locations

· Cheques drawn on correspondent bank locations

· Cheques drawn on coordinator locations

3.7 Cash concentration strategies
One of the core objectives of the corporate treasury function is to quickly aggregate and make best use of incoming cash.  Whether it's funding daily operations or capital improvements, erasing debts or investing for the future, the monetary needs of today's evolving companies continue to grow.  This article looks at overcoming obstacles, analyzing payments and collections, and concentration tools. 

To meet these challenges head on, companies must leverage well-executed concentration strategies.  This entails transferring cash among operating units and bank accounts, and funneling funds into master accounts for good use. 

The benefits of concentration are numerous.  Companies that get it right:

· Improve the return on liquid funds 

· Reduce excess bank balances 

· Improve controls 

· Decrease administrative costs 

· Enhance bank relationship strategies 

Even with so much to gain, however, too many businesses fail to leverage concentration's true value.

"To be successful in concentration—the mobilization and direction of funds—companies must consider aggregation plus use," explains Nancy Arms, senior vice president of liquidity product management, Bank of America.  "For example, your accounts receivable group could implement workflow changes to streamline collections, but that could inadvertently delay cash or move it to a place that's counterproductive to your overall concentration strategy.  Avoid this possibility by taking a holistic approach to your business's concentration strategy."

What follows is some best-practice advice for companies ready to re-evaluate how well they concentrate funds.  No one plan applies to every company, but the main objective remains the same.  Here are some issues to consider as a company's financial management embarks on its internal evaluation.

Overcoming Obstacles

First, several obstacles often preclude businesses from achieving their concentration goals.  Some of these challenges are unbending, but with effort, others can be overcome:

· Legal and tax structures.  Inability to commingle funds. 

· Country regulations.  Controlled money movements. 

· Timing.  Difficulties working with people in distant locations. 

· Bank structures.  Having too many banking relationships, each with their own deadlines and processing scenarios. 

· Internal infrastructure.  Lack of Information Technology resources. 

· Opposing performance measurements.  Retail managers on one end of the business, for example, may be evaluated by metrics other than when or how they deposit receivables. 

· Internal business conflicts/silos.  Imperfect worker partnerships or 'siloed' departments where employees function without knowing what other areas of the business are doing or how they operate. 

Unfortunately, silos play out in everyday business.  Assume you're a multi-location retailer.  When deciding where to bank, Operations and Loss Prevention run a ZIP code survey to identify safely located bank branches near your storefronts.  This leads to the initiation of numerous relationships, thereby spreading your cash among various banks. 

A better scenario would be for Treasury to help determine which relationships, which types of accounts and how many are best for the company.  Where practical, it's a best practice to reduce both the number of financial institutions with whom you bank and the number of accounts you maintain.

The lesson here is to gather all the critical players at the onset and map out a comprehensive strategy that addresses everyone's needs and concerns.  "If one side of your business is only concerned about collections or payments, concentration isn't getting its due focus - and vice versa," Arms warns.

3.7.1 Analysis of Payments and Collections

Once you've identified and engaged all the necessary players, it's time to deconstruct your existing strategy.  Question whether better tools or better structures could improve your cash flow. 

For example, maybe you're paying vendors on the first of the month when payment isn't due until mid-month.  Pushing back payments could buy two weeks of added interest.  Alternatively, you may discover a better, short-term use for that cash.  Helping other departments better manage their payments is critical. 

Furthermore, your business might benefit from volume rebates by utilizing purchasing cards.  "Where possible, try to control and delay actually paying for goods obtained," Arms recommends.

Similarly, pay attention to collection practices.  Questions to ask include:

· How much same-day credit am I getting? 

· What are my idle balances? 

· How long does cash sit at my locations? 

· Am I losing cash? 

· What is the timing between information and availability? 

· What is our progression of electronic/card receipts?

Armed with these answers, you might be able to improve the aggregation/collection side of the concentration equation by implementing shadow depository accounts, zero-balance account (ZBA) structures, notional pooling, lockbox or remote bank Automated Clearing House (ACH) transactions.

"If you're not involved in the intricacies of payables and receivables, you're not optimizing the use of your cash," says Tom DeLany, senior vice president with Bank of America's global treasury services.  "Use your cash forecast as a real-time information outline for what you're going to do with excess cash.  If you have a loan payment due in seven days, for example, you should know how to best apply that cash to your advantage for the preceding six days."

3.8 Cash disbursement 

The objective of internal controls for cash disbursements are to ensure that cash is disbursed only upon proper authorization of management, for valid business purposes, and that all disbursements are properly recorded.

While it is impossible to guarantee that these objectives will be met at all times for all transactions, the following practices provide reasonable assurance that they will usually be accomplished.

1. Segregation of Duties

Segregation of duties means that no financial transaction is handled by only one person from beginning to end. For cash disbursements, this might mean that different people authorize payments, sign checks, record payments in the books, and reconcile the bank statements. If your organization is a small nonprofit, managed by volunteers and possibly one staff person, this principle can be hard to put into practice. You might consider having one person, such as the paid staff member, sign checks and assign a different person, such as the board treasurer, to review disbursements, bank statements, and canceled checks on a monthly basis.

2. Authorization and Processing of Disbursements

You will want to develop policies regarding who in your organization can authorize payments. Some organizations designate this function solely to the executive director to ensure that a single person is paying attention to monies going out of the organization. In other cases, a department head might authorize purchases for that department, as long as they are within the department's budget. 
In most organizations, once the board approves the budget, it does not need to authorize individual purchases within that budget. However, unbudgeted purchases would require additional approval. Also, in very small organizations, the board treasurer or board president may be asked to authorize all purchases. Even larger organizations have policies requiring the board to authorize significant expenditures, such as purchases for computers or other assets. It is important to agree and formally define what constitutes a significant expenditure and how these purchases will be handled.

All disbursements should be accompanied by adequate documentation, in the form of receipts or an invoice. Cash withdrawals should never be made via Automatic Teller Machine (ATM) cards.

3.-Managing-Restricted-Funds

Restricted contributions are a form of revenue unique to the nonprofit sector. Money which has been restricted by the donor for a specific use (such as buying a new building, starting a new program, building an endowment, etc.) should only be used for the purpose for which it has been given. However, most nonprofits find themselves tempted to borrow against restricted monies when facing a cash shortage. 
In cases where the funder clearly prohibits such borrowing, such action clearly violates the funder's trust and instructions and may lead to revocation of the grant. In other cases, donors allow temporary borrowing as long as the money is replaced within a certain period of time, usually within the grant year.

Ultimately, it is the role of the board to ensure that the organization fulfills its obligations to donors. Therefore, in cases where borrowing against restricted funds is permitted, the board should establish policies which describe the circumstances under which such borrowing is allowed. These policies might include how often borrowing may occur, who may authorize the interfund loan, and how much can be borrowed (such as a percentage of the total grant). In addition, a repayment plan should be established and the board should be advised regularly on the status of any interfund loans.

4. Check Signing

There is some debate regarding the number of signatures required on a check. In many cases, it is useful to require two signatures on checks, especially for purchases over a certain amount. This amount will vary with the organization's budget; your accountant may be able to help you determine how much is significant. Even though checks require two signatures, three or four people might have check signing authority to ensure that two signers are available to make disbursements. The number of authorized signers should be kept to a minimum, while ensuring that daily business is not unnecessarily hampered.

The purpose of this internal control is to make sure that there are deliberate decisions made about who to pay, how much to pay, and when to pay bills. If you habitually have one or more checks that are pre-signed by one of the two required signatories, it defeats that purpose. 
If more than one signer is not regularly available, and this inhibits your ability to meet your obligations, you might consider having an imprest checking account. This means that the board establishes a policy regarding the amount of money which can be available in the checking account at any one time, say Rs.500. All other money is kept in a separate account which the check signer does not have access to. The check signer is allowed to pay bills until that amount is substantially depleted. At that time, the treasurer or other board members may review the disbursements and make sure that they are within the guidelines established by the board. Once these disbursements have been reviewed and accepted, the authorized board representative then transfers enough money to bring the imprest account back to its Rs.500 maximum balance.

Seek to balance your internal accounting control in such a way as to ensure public confidence and maintain the integrity of your financial systems and assets, without unduly inhibiting your ability to get on with your work.

3.8.1 Internet Accounting Controls Checklist


The following questions reflect common internal accounting controls related to paying bills. You may wish to use this list to review your own internal accounting controls and determine which areas require further action.

· Are all disbursements, except those from petty cash, made by pre-numbered checks?
· Are voided checks preserved and filed after appropriate mutilation?

· Is there a written prohibition against drawing checks payable to Cash ?

· Is there a written prohibition against signing checks in advance?

· Is a cash disbursement voucher prepared for each invoice or request for reimbursement that details the date of check, check number, payee, amount of check, description of expense account (and restricted fund) to be charged, authorization signature, and accompanying receipts?

· Are all expenditures approved in advance by authorized persons?

· Are signed checks mailed promptly?

· Does the check signer review the cash disbursement voucher for the proper approved authorization and supporting documentation of expenses?

· Are invoices marked Paid with the date and amount of the check?

· Are requests for reimbursement and other invoices checked for mathematical accuracy and reasonableness before approval?

· Is a cash disbursement journal prepared monthly that details the date of check, check number, payee, amount of check, and columnar description of expense account (and restricted fund) to be charged?

· Is check-signing authority vested in persons at appropriately high levels in the organization?

· Are the numbers of authorized signatures limited to the minimum practical number?

· Do larger checks require two signatures?

· Are bank statements and canceled checks received and reconciled by a person independent of the authorization and check signing function?

· Are unpaid invoices maintained in an unpaid invoice file?

· Is a list of unpaid invoices regularly prepared and periodically reviewed?

· Are invoices from unfamiliar or unusual vendors reviewed and approved for payment by authorized personnel who are independent of the invoice processing function?

· If the organization keeps an accounts payable register, are payments promptly recorded in the register to avoid double payment?

· If purchase orders are used, is all purchase transactions used with pre-numbered purchase orders?

· Are advance payments to vendors and/or employees recorded as receivables and controlled in a manner which assures that they will be offset against invoices or expense vouchers?

· Are employees required to submit expense reports for all travel related expenses on a timely basis?

Activity 3
1. Throw light on importance of cash management. List the main elements of an effective cash management program.

2. Elaborate briefly the cash systems and cash collection systems.

3. What are the imperatives of cash concentration strategy?

4. Discuss cash disbursement with suitable example.

3.9 summary
This unit focuses on basics of cash management. Cash management consists of taking the necessary actions to maintain adequate levels of cash to meet operational and capital requirements and to obtain the maximum yield on short-term investments of pooled, idle cash. Importance of cash management was discussed in detailed manner and elements of effective cash management program were revealed. Investments were discussed as important area of focus of cash management and types of investment were explained. Investment in marketable securities was considered one of the strongest options of investments. Management of cash does not need an overly complex system, but it must cover two categories: money coming in and money going out. For this task cash systems and cash collection systems are discussed. Cash concentration strategies and points that are necessary to implement these strategies were described in a detailed manner. Finally cash disbursement was discussed with focus on internal accounting controls.
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UNIT 4
CASH FLOWS AND BUDGETING
Objectives

After studying this unit you should be able to:

· Understand the approach of cash flow management
· Know the techniques for better cash flow management

· Appreciate the concept and methods of calculating cash flows with the help of cash flow statement
· Be aware about the approach of cash flow forecasting

· Have the understanding about cash flow budgeting

· Analyze the methods of preparing cash flow budgets
Structure
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4.2 Cash flow management 

4.3 Techniques for better cash flow management

4.4 Cash flow statement

4.5 Cash flow forecasting

4.6 Cash budgeting                         

4.7 Steps to cash flow budgeting               

4.8 Summary 

4.9 Further readings

4.1 Introduction
Cash flow (also "cash flow") refers to the movement of cash into or out of a business, a project, or a financial product. It is usually measured during a specified, finite period of time. Measurement of cash flow can be used

· To determine a project's rate of return or value. The time of cash flows into and out of projects are used as inputs in financial models such as internal rate of return, and net present value.

· To determine problems with a business's liquidity. Being profitable does not necessarily mean being liquid. A company can fail because of a shortage of cash, even while profitable.

· As an alternate measure of a business's profits when it is believed that accrual accounting concepts do not represent economic realities. For example, a company may be notionally profitable but generating little operational cash (as may be the case for a company that barters its products rather than selling for cash). In such a case, the company may be deriving additional operating cash by issuing shares, or raising additional debt finance.

· Cash flow can be used to evaluate the 'quality' of Income generated by accrual accounting. When Net Income is composed of large non-cash items it is considered low quality.

· To evaluate the risks within a financial product. E.g. matching cash requirements, evaluating default risk, re-investment requirements, etc.

Cash flow is a generic term used differently depending on the context. It may be defined by users for their own purposes. It can refer to actual past flows, or to projected future flows. It can refer to the total of all the flows involved or to only a subset of those flows. Subset terms include 'net cash flow', operating cash flow and free cash flow.

4.2 Cash flow management

Cash flow management is the process of monitoring, reviewing and regulating a company’s cash flows. Cash flow is to a business what oxygen is to human beings. Cash flow management helps a business survive and prosper and is the main indicator of a company’s financial health. Cash flow management helps to strengthen a business through the timely estimation of overall cash inflows and outflows. Cash flow management also helps avoid cash shortages. 

Cash inflows are realized through the sale of goods and services to customers. Cash outflows take place through operating expenses, the purchase of fixed assets, loan repayments, dividend payment and taxes. By managing cash inflows and outflows, it is possible to maintain a specific amount of cash at all times.

4.2.1 How Does Cash flow Management Work?

Cash flow management is based on the estimation of inflows and outflows. It is a technique to hasten cash returns and delay payments. For a business, cash flow management includes the following steps:

· Making financial projections: Cash forecasts include estimating expenses and revenues. These projections help in anticipating when a business would need cash and when it will have surplus reserves. Typically annual cash forecast is made. 
· Contingency plans: Emergency plans consider the best and worst scenarios. The money cycle is complex and delicate and, therefore, difficult to predict. Hence, it is crucial to remain prepared for adversities. 
· Cap on spending: Spending within the budget is important for any enterprise to sustain its cash reserves. Spending on unprofitable ventures can challenge the financial soundness of an enterprise. So, curbing and optimizing spending are key to cash flow management. 

· Limit inventory: The excessive accumulation of inventory may lock cash for long periods. Cash management propagates keeping only that much inventory that can be sold in a short span of time. 
· Raising invoices: Promptly raising invoices helps in managing cash flows. An enterprise can devise a policy to declare customer payments within the stipulated time. They can also ensure continuous follow-ups on overdue receivables. 

4.2.2 Benefits of Cash flow Management

Efficient cash flow management offers the following benefits:

· It can help a company identify when it will require cash and devise ways of generating the same. 

· It provides an understanding of when to put a freeze on investments, such as venturing into new projects, business expansions and employee hiring. 

· It aids enterprises in planning for loans. 

· Cash flow management helps in eliminating uncertainty associated with the availability of cash balances. 

· It improves the visibility into cash flow issues. 

For small businesses, the most important aspect of cash flow management is avoiding extended cash shortages, caused by having too great a gap between cash inflows and outflows. You won't be able to stay in business if you can't pay your bills for any extended length of time!

Therefore, you need to perform a cash flow analysis on a regular basis, and use cash flow forecasting so you can take the steps necessary to head off cash flow problems. Many software accounting programs have built-in reporting features that make cash flow analysis easy. This is the first step of cash flow management.

The second step of cash flow management is to develop and use strategies that will maintain an adequate cash flow for your business. One of the most useful strategies for small businesses is to shorten your cash flow conversion period so that your business can bring in money faster.

A cash flow gap occurs when your cash inflows and cash outflows don't keep pace with each other, leaving your business short of cash.

This is an especially common problem for small businesses, where copious cash outflows may repeatedly precede cash inflows; all kinds of expenses, from purchasing materials necessary to do the work through licensing or permit fees, may have to be paid out before your small business gets paid for the work completed.

How do you close this cash flow gap and keep your business solvent?

Keep a close eye on your cash flow, so you can forecast potential cash flow problems and take steps to remedy them. One of the easiest ways to monitor your business' cash flow is to compare the total unpaid purchases to the total sales due at the end of each month. If the total unpaid purchases are greater than the total sales due, you'll need to spend more cash than you receive in the next month, indicating a potential cash flow problem.

Take steps to shorten your cash flow conversion period, so your business can bring in money faster. These steps may include:

1) Preparing customer invoices immediately upon delivery of your goods or services to the customer. If you wait to prepare your invoices at the end of the month, for example, you may be adding as many as 30 extra days to your cash flow conversion period!

2) Monitoring your customers' use of credit and adjusting their credit limits accordingly.

3) Offering customers a discount for paying their invoices early. For instance, if your usual policy is to have payments due in 30 days, offer a small discount such as 2 percent to customers who pay within 14 days.

4) Establishing a deposit policy for works in progress. For example, if you deliver a service, such as software development, home repair, or landscaping, you can adopt a policy that customers pay a certain percentage of the total invoice up front before the job begins.

5) Tracking your past-due accounts and actively pursuing collections. Most accounting software programs let you easily track past-due accounts, but you also need to have a clear process for pursuing collections. Such a process might involve sending out a series of letters letting your customer know that his or her account is past due and what steps will follow if he or she does not pay, such as turning the account over to a collection agency.

You have to have money coming in regularly to maintain an adequate cash flow for your business, not just endlessly streaming out. Monitoring your cash flow and taking steps to shorten your cash flow conversion period will go a long ways towards eliminating those dangerous cash flow gaps.

Cash is king when it comes to the financial management of a growing company. The lag between the time you have to pay your suppliers and employees and the time you collect from your customers is the problem, and the solution is cash flow management. At its simplest, cash flow management means delaying outlays of cash as long as possible while encouraging anyone who owes you money to pay it as rapidly as possible.

4.2.3 Measuring Cash Flow

Understand that cash flow plans are not glimpses into the future. They're educated guesses that balance a number of factors, including your customers' payment histories, your own thoroughness at identifying upcoming expenditures, and your vendors' patience. Watch out for assuming without justification that receivables will continue coming in at the same rate they have recently, that payables can be extended as far as they have in the past, that you have included expenses such as capital improvements, loan interest and principal payments, and that you have accounted for seasonal sales fluctuations. An accurate cash flow projection can alert you to trouble well before it strikes.

Start your cash flow projection by adding cash on hand at the beginning of the period with other cash to be received from various sources. In the process, you will wind up gathering information from salespeople, service representatives, collections, credit workers and your finance department. In all cases, you'll be asking the same question: How much cash in the form of customer payments, interest earnings, service fees, partial collections of bad debts, and other sources are we going to get in, and when?

The second part of making accurate cash flow projections is detailed knowledge of amounts and dates of upcoming cash outlays. That means not only knowing when each penny will be spent, but on what. Have a line item on your projection for every significant outlay, including rent, inventory (when purchased for cash), salaries and wages, sales and other taxes withheld or payable, benefits paid, equipment purchased for cash, professional fees, utilities, office supplies, debt payments, advertising, vehicle and equipment maintenance and fuel, and cash dividends.

"As difficult as it is for a business owner to prepare projections, it's one of the most important things one can do," says accountant Steve Mayer. "Projections rank next to business plans and mission statements among things a business must do to plan for the future."

1. Improving Receivables
If you got paid for sales the instant you made them, you would never have a cash flow problem. Unfortunately, that doesn't happen, but you can still improve your cash flow by managing your receivables. The basic idea is to improve the speed with which you turn materials and supplies into products, inventory into receivables, and receivables into cash. Here are specific techniques for doing this:

· Offer discounts to customers who pay their bills rapidly.

· Ask customers to make deposit payments at the time orders are taken.

· Require credit checks on all new noncash customers.

· Get rid of old, outdated inventory for whatever you can get.

· Issue invoices promptly and follows up immediately if payments are slow in coming.

· Track accounts receivable to identify and avoid slow-paying customers. Instituting a policy of cash on delivery (c.o.d.) is an alternative to refusing to do business with slow-paying customers.

2. Managing Payables
Top-line sales growth can conceal a lot of problems-sometimes too well. When you are managing a growing company, you have to watch expenses carefully. Don't be lulled into complacency by simply expanding sales. Any time and any place you see expenses growing faster than sales, examine costs carefully to find places to cut or control them. Here are some more tips for using cash wisely:

· Take full advantage of creditor payment terms. If a payment is due in 30 days, don't pay it in 15 days.

· Use electronic funds transfer to make payments on the last day they are due. You will remain current with suppliers while retaining use of your funds as long as possible.

· Communicate with your suppliers so they know your financial situation. If you ever need to delay a payment, you'll need their trust and understanding.

· Carefully consider vendors' offers of discounts for earlier payments. These can amount to expensive loans to your suppliers, or they may provide you with a change to reduce overall costs. The devil is in the details.

· Don't always focus on the lowest price when choosing suppliers. Sometimes more flexible payment terms can improve your cash flow more than a bargain-basement price.

3. Surviving Shortfalls
Sooner or later, you will foresee or find yourself in a situation where you lack the cash to pay your bills. This doesn't mean you're a failure as a businessperson-you're a normal entrepreneur who can't perfectly predict the future. And there are normal, everyday business practices that can help you manage the shortfall.

The key to managing cash shortfalls is to become aware of the problem as early and as accurately as possible. Banks are wary of borrowers who have to have money today. They'd much prefer lending to you before you need it, preferably months before. When the reason you are caught short is that you failed to plan, a banker is not going to be very interested in helping you out.

If you assume from the beginning that you will someday be short on cash, you can arrange for a line of credit at your bank. This allows you to borrow money up to a preset limit any time you need it. Since it's far easier to borrow when you don't need it, arranging a credit line before you are short is vital.

If bankers won't help, turn next to your suppliers. These people are more interested in keeping you going than a banker, and they probably know more about your business. You can often get extended terms from suppliers that amount to a hefty, low-cost loan just by asking. That's especially true if you've been a good customer in the past and kept them informed about your financial situation.

Consider using factors. These are financial service businesses that can pay you today for receivables you may not otherwise be able to collect on for weeks or months. You'll receive as much as 15 percent less than you would otherwise, since factors demand a discount, but you'll eliminate the hassle of collecting and be able to fund current operations without borrowing.

Ask your best customers to accelerate payments. Explain the situation and, if necessary, offer a discount of a percentage point or two off the bill. You should also go after your worst customers-those whose invoices are more than 90 days past due. Offer them a steeper discount if they pay today.

You may be able to raise cash by selling and leasing back assets such as machinery, equipment, computers, phone systems and even office furniture. Leasing companies may be willing to perform the transactions. It's not cheap, however, and you could lose your assets if you miss lease payments.

Choose the bills you'll pay carefully. Don't just pay the smallest ones and let the rest slide. Make payroll first-unpaid employees will soon be ex-employees. Pay crucial suppliers next. Ask the rest if you can skip a payment or make a partial payment.

4.3 Techniques for better cash flow management

It's a challenge for even the biggest firms to sustain appropriate amount of working capital while managing the flow of cash through the business. But there are ways to ensure that your operation makes the best use of its cash on-hand. They combine cash flow budgeting with the use of financial resources from outside your company. 
4.3.1 Managing working capital

Your level of working capital is intimately related to the flow of cash into and out of your business. Simply stated, you need enough working capital to setup the business, pay operating costs, and continue to operate until payment arrives 30, 60 or maybe even 90 days later. 

But if you've used a lot of that working capital to pay for fixed assets, you may come up against a crash crunch that prevents you from paying suppliers, buying materials and even paying yourself a salary. It's a good idea then, to maintain a level of working capital that allows you to make it through those crunch times and continue to operate the business. 

Short-term financing such as a line of credit (LOC) can be used to make emergency purchases or to bridge the gap between month's-end payables and receivables. An LOC can be negotiated with your financial institution, and this should be done before any need actually arises. It's usually easier to negotiate an LOC when you don't really need one. A good time to go to your financial institution is immediately after the end of a good year or quarter. Bring your financial statements. 

In growth situations where you have to suddenly increase inventory that will be sold on credit, you may need to increase your working capital. Shareholders and other investors can sometimes provide this cash injection and BDC can also provide long-term financing for working capital. 

Large asset purchases such as equipment and real estate should be financed long-term which allows you to spread the payments over the average life of the assets. Yes, you'll be paying interest but, you'll still have a big portion of your capital on-hand for business operations. 

The federal and provincial governments provide loan-guarantee services for the purchase of operating equipment and fixed assets, making it much easier for small businesses to obtain loans from financial institutions. Under programs such as the Canada Small Business Financing Program, the government agrees to pay up to 85% of the value of the loan, back to the financial institution if you the borrower default on that loan. 

And it's always a good idea to make a cash flow budget. Your bookkeeper, accountant, accounting software and even spreadsheets downloadable from the Internet can help you anticipate inflows and outflows of money over a period of time. Budgeting allows you to see when a cash crunch is likely to occur. 

4.3.2 Management of business risks

There are many risks involved in running a business, and serious challenges should be expected at some time in the future. You need to consider a number of scenarios such as "What if that big order suddenly comes in?", "What if that big order is cancelled?" or "What if that important client under owes me money?" This kind of risk analysis can become part of your cash-flow budgeting process. For instance, if you're using a spreadsheet to enter cash inflows, simply reflect that situation by adding or deleting. The repercussions in the weeks and months to come should be immediately visible, so that you can consider what you would do if that occurred. 

You can reduce the risk of cash-crunch due to this type of situation, by planning ahead and having a more diversified client base. If you're not dependent on one large order or client, your livelihood doesn't hinge on the health of someone else's business. Finding new clients will increase revenue, improve your cash flow situation and make you less susceptible to marketplace adversity. 

Another risk associated with running a business, especially among startups, is mixups between business and personal bank accounts and credit cards. Since initial financing often comes from the owner's personal savings it's easy to see how that can happen. This situation has a simple remedy which consists of opening a separate bank account and credit card for the business. Your business account should be where you deposit customer cheques, draw your salary, and pay your employees and suppliers. Similarly, get a separate credit card for the business, make business-related purchases on that card, and pay for that card using your company cheques. Some credit cards provide management reports that detail the types of purchases made over the month and over the past year, and this type of information can then be used in your cash flow budget for next year. 

4.3.3 Quick collections
To guard against late payments, bill as early as possible and make those invoices as clear and as detailed as possible. It may also be worth changing other billing practices such as invoice frequency: instead of waiting until the end of the month, generate an invoice as soon as the goods or services are delivered. Make sure those invoices are addressed to the right person in the right department. 

For those big orders, you may want to consider progressive invoicing while you manufacture the goods or deliver the service. For example you can ask for a deposit with the order and then a percentage of the payment at various agreed upon milestones. 

Keep track of your receivables. It's easy to lose track and then neglect to follow up on an overdue account. Experience shows that the longer you remain out of contact with a customer, the less likely you are to recover the full amount owed, so if you can't take care of it yourself, hire someone to do it for you. 

4.3.4 Monitoring costs and inventory 

Make sure you're getting the best possible deal from your suppliers. You can do this by shopping around and getting quotes from other suppliers. They may not be able to give a better price, but may be able to offer better payment terms making it easier on your cash flow situation. 

Analyze inventory turnover to determine which items are selling and which are useless that are soaking up your working capital. Try to keep inventory levels lean so that your working capital isn't tied-up unproductively and unprofitably. 

Finally, if you feel you need help managing inventory or making cash flow projections BDC Consulting can help you implement working capital strategies that are just right for your business.
4.3.5 Redundancies: The Quick Way to Positive Cash Flow
Lay offs, redundancies, voluntary leave…call it what you will. It all involves getting rid of people from your company to reduce costs. Keeping staff is a costly affair. After all, it's not just their salaries you have to think about, but their support, tax and equipment costs. Many companies have made large percentages of their staff redundant as it's a quick way of saving a lot of money each month.

However, if you run a small company, making people redundant is a false economy. After all, you might save a few thousand rupeess a month, but didn't you hire the people to help you make more money in the first place? In a large company, the laws of efficiency say that there are a certain percentage of workers who aren't contributing to the company's profits, and these people can be removed without too much hassle. In a small company, there are less people and so each person probably has a bigger role in generating revenue for the company.

The best advice is not to look at redundancies as being the quick-fix for your company, but to look at it as a last resort. Of course, if you want to get rid of staff but retain their revenue generating abilities, there's another option available to you, rehire them as freelancers.

Keeping employees is an expensive task. If you want to make some people redundant but feel guilty about letting your trusted workers down, you could rehire them as freelancers. Many companies are taking this option, especially in the media and entertainment industries. Why keep paying a senior writer Rs.50k along with share options and health benefits, when you could just pay them Rs.50k to work from home? Better than that, because freelance workers will often be working from home, they may feel more comfortable and produce more output for you. Not only that, but they will be able to get work from other companies to boost their incomes. It's beneficial to all involved.

4.4 Cash flow statement
In financial accounting, a cash flow statement, also known as statement of cash flows or funds flow statement, is a financial statement that shows how changes in balance sheet accounts and income affect cash and cash equivalents, and breaks the analysis down to operating, investing, and financing activities. Essentially, the cash flow statement is concerned with the flow of cash in and cash out of the business. The statement captures both the current operating results and the accompanying changes in the balance sheet. As an analytical tool, the statement of cash flows is useful in determining the short-term viability of a company, particularly its ability to pay bills. International Accounting Standard 7 (IAS 7), is the International Accounting Standard that deals with cash flow statements.

People and groups interested in cash flow statements include:

· Accounting personnel, who need to know whether the organization will be able to cover payroll and other immediate expenses

· Potential lenders or creditors, who want a clear picture of a company's ability to repay

· Potential investors, who need to judge whether the company is financially sound

· Potential employees or contractors, who need to know whether the company will be able to afford compensation

· Shareholders of the business.

The cash flow statement was previously known as the flow of funds statement. The cash flow statement reflects a firm's liquidity.

The balance sheet is a snapshot of a firm's financial resources and obligations at a single point in time, and the income statement summarizes a firm's financial transactions over an interval of time. These two financial statements reflect the accrual basis accounting used by firms to match revenues with the expenses associated with generating those revenues. The cash flow statement includes only inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents; it excludes transactions that do not directly affect cash receipts and payments. These non cash transactions include depreciation or write-offs on bad debts or credit losses to name a few. The cash flow statement is a cash basis report on three types of financial activities: operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities. Non cash activities are usually reported in footnotes.

The cash flow statement is intended to:

1. provide information on a firm's liquidity and solvency and its ability to change cash flows in future circumstances

2. provide additional information for evaluating changes in assets, liabilities and equity

3. improve the comparability of different firms' operating performance by eliminating the effects of different accounting methods
4. indicate the amount, timing and probability of future cash flows

The cash flow statement has been adopted as a standard financial statement because it eliminates allocations, which might be derived from different accounting methods, such as various timeframes for depreciating fixed assets. 

4.4.1 Cash flow activities
The cash flow statement is partitioned into three segments, namely: cash flow resulting from operating activities, cash flow resulting from investing activities, and cash flow resulting from financing activities.

The money coming into the business is called cash inflow, and money going out from the business is called cash outflow.

1. Operating activities
Operating activities include the production, sales and delivery of the company's product as well as collecting payment from its customers. This could include purchasing raw materials, building inventory, advertising, and shipping the product.

Under IAS 7, operating cash flows include: 

· Receipts from the sale of goods or services

· Receipts for the sale of loans, debt or equity instruments in a trading portfolio

· Interest received on loans

· Dividends received on equity securities

· Payments to suppliers for goods and services

· Payments to employees or on behalf of employees

· Interest payments (alternatively, this can be reported under financing activities in IAS 7, and US GAAP)

Items which are added back to [or subtracted from, as appropriate] the net income figure (which is found on the Income Statement) to arrive at cash flows from operations generally include:

· Depreciation (loss of tangible asset value over time)

· Deferred tax
· Amortization (loss of intangible asset value over time)

· Any gains or losses associated with the sale of a non-current asset, because associated cash flows do not belong in the operating section.(unrealized gains/losses are also added back from the income statement)

2. Investing activities
Examples of investing activities are

· Purchase or Sale of an asset (assets can be land, building, equipment, marketable securities, etc.)

· Loans made to suppliers or received from customers

· Payments related to mergers and acquisitions

3. Financing activities
Financing activities include the inflow of cash from investors such as banks and shareholders, as well as the outflow of cash to shareholders as dividends as the company generates income. Other activities which impact the long-term liabilities and equity of the company are also listed in the financing activities section of the cash flow statement.

Under IAS 7,

· Proceeds from issuing short-term or long-term debt

· Payments of dividends

· Payments for repurchase of company shares

· Repayment of debt principal, including capital leases

· For non-profit organizations, receipts of donor-restricted cash that is limited to long-term purposes

Items under the financing activities section include:

· Dividends paid

· Sale or repurchase of the company's stock
· Net borrowings
· Payment of dividend tax

4.4.2 Disclosure of non cash activities
Under IAS 7, non cash investing and financing activities are disclosed in footnotes to the financial statements. Under US General Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), non cash activities may be disclosed in a footnote or within the cash flow statement itself. Non cash financing activities may include:

· Leasing to purchase an asset

· Converting debt to equity

· Exchanging non cash assets or liabilities for other non cash assets or liabilities

· Issuing shares in exchange for assets

4.4.3 Preparation methods
The direct method of preparing a cash flow statement results is a more easily understood report. The indirect method is almost universally used, because FAS 95 requires a supplementary report similar to the indirect method if a company chooses to use the direct method.

1. Direct method
The direct method for creating a cash flow statement reports major classes of gross cash receipts and payments. Under IAS 7, dividends received may be reported under operating activities or under investing activities. If taxes paid are directly linked to operating activities, they are reported under operating activities; if the taxes are directly linked to investing activities or financing activities, they are reported under investing or financing activities.

Sample cash flow statement using the direct method
	Cash flows from (used in) operating activities

	  Cash receipts from customers
	27,500
	

	  Cash paid to suppliers and employees
	(20,000)
	

	  Cash generated from operations (sum)
	7,500
	

	  Interest paid
	(2,000)
	

	  Income taxes paid
	(4,000)
	

	  Net cash flows from operating activities
	
	1,500

	Cash flows from (used in) investing activities

	  Proceeds from the sale of equipment
	7,500
	

	  Dividends received
	3,000
	

	  Net cash flows from investing activities
	
	10,500

	Cash flows from (used in) financing activities

	  Dividends paid
	(2,500)
	

	  Net cash flows used in financing activities
	
	(2,500)

	.

	Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
	
	9,500

	Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
	
	1,000

	Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
	
	Rs.10,500


2. Indirect method
The indirect method uses net-income as a starting point, makes adjustments for all transactions for non-cash items, then adjusts for all cash-based transactions. An increase in an asset account is subtracted from net income, and an increase in a liability account is added back to net income. This method converts accrual-basis net income (or loss) into cash flow by using a series of additions and deductions. 

4.4.4 Rules
The following rules are used to make adjustments for changes in current assets and liabilities, operating items not providing or using cash and non operating items. 

· Decrease in non-cash current assets are added to net income

· Increase in non-cash current asset are subtracted from net income

· Increase in current liabilities are added to net income

· Decrease in current liabilities are subtracted from net income

· Expenses with no cash outflows are added back to net income (depreciation and/or amortization expense are the only operating items that have no effect on cash flows in the period)

· Revenues with no cash inflows are subtracted from net income

· Non operating losses are added back to net income

· Non operating gains are subtracted from net income

Example: cash flow of Citigroup: 

	Citigroup Cash Flow Statement


(all numbers in millions of USRs.)



	Period ending
	12/31/2007
	12/31/2006
	12/31/2005

	Net income
	21,538
	24,589
	17,046

	Operating activities, cash flows provided by or used in:

	Depreciation and amortization
	2,790
	2,592
	2,747

	Adjustments to net income
	4,617
	621
	2,910

	Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
	12,503
	17,236
	--

	Increase (decrease) in liabilities (A/P, taxes payable)
	131,622
	19,822
	37,856

	Decrease (increase) in inventories
	--
	--
	--

	Increase (decrease) in other operating activities
	(173,057)
	(33,061)
	(62,963)

	    Net cash flow from operating activities
	13
	31,799
	(2,404)

	Investing activities, cash flows provided by or used in:

	Capital expenditures
	(4,035)
	(3,724)
	(3,011)

	Investments
	(201,777)
	(71,710)
	(75,649)

	Other cash flows from investing activities
	1,606
	17,009
	(571)

	    Net cash flows from investing activities
	(204,206)
	(58,425)
	(79,231)

	Financing activities, cash flows provided by or used in:

	Dividends paid
	(9,826)
	(9,188)
	(8,375)

	Sale (repurchase) of stock
	(5,327)
	(12,090)
	133

	Increase (decrease) in debt
	101,122
	26,651
	21,204

	Other cash flows from financing activities
	120,461
	27,910
	70,349

	    Net cash flows from financing activities
	206,430
	33,283
	83,311

	Effect of exchange rate changes


	645
	(1,840)
	731

	Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
	2,882
	4,817
	2,407


4.5 Cash flow forecasting

Cash flow forecasting is (1) in a corporate finance sense, the modeling of a company or asset’s future financial liquidity over a specific timeframe. Cash usually refers to the company’s total bank balances, but often what is forecast is treasury position which is cash plus short-term investments minus short-term debt. Cash flow is the change in cash or treasury position from one period to the next; (2) in the context of the entrepreneur or manager, forecasting what cash will come into the business or business unit in order to ensure that outgoing can be managed to as to avoid them exceeding cash flow coming in. If there is one thing entrepreneurs learn fast, it is to become very good at cash flow forecasting.

4.5.1 Methods (corporate finance)
The direct method of cash flow forecasting schedules the company’s cash receipts and disbursements (R&D). Receipts are primarily the collection of accounts receivable from recent sales, but also include sales of other assets, proceeds of financing, etc. Disbursements include, payroll, payment of accounts payable from recent purchases, dividends, debt service, etc. This direct, R&D method is best suited to the short-term forecasting horizon of 30 days or so because this is the period for which actual, as opposed to projected, data is available. (de Caux, 2005)

The three indirect methods are based on the company’s projected income statements and balance sheets. The adjusted net income (ANI) method starts with operating income (EBIT or EBITDA) and adds or subtracts changes in balance sheet accounts such as receivables, payables and inventories to project cash flow. The pro-forma balance sheet (PBS) method looks straight at the projected book cash account; if all the other balance sheet accounts have been correctly forecast, cash will be correct, too. 
Both the ANI and PBS methods are best suited to the medium-term (up to one year) and long-term (multiple years) forecasting horizons. Both are limited to the monthly or quarterly intervals of the financial plan, and need to be adjusted for the difference between accrual-accounting book cash and the often-significantly-different bank balances. (Association for Financial Professionals, 2006)

The third indirect approach is the accrual reversal method (ARM), which is similar to the ANI method. But instead of using projected balance sheet accounts, large accruals are reversed and cash effects are calculated based upon statistical distributions and algorithms. This allows the forecasting period to be weekly or even daily. It also eliminates the cumulative errors inherent in the direct, R&D method when it is extended beyond the short-term horizon. But because the ARM allocates both accrual reversals and cash effects to weeks or days, it is more complicated than the ANI or PBS indirect methods. The ARM is best suited to the medium-term forecasting horizon. (Bort, 1990)and the advantages are as follows

4.5.2 Methods (entrepreneurial)
The simplest method is to have a spreadsheet that shows cash coming in from all sources out to at least 90 days, and all cash going out for the same period. This requires that the quantity and timings of receipts of cash from sales are reasonably accurate, which in turn requires judgement honed by experience of the industry concerned, because it is rare for cash receipts to match sales forecasts exactly, and it is also rare for suppliers all to pay on time. These principles remain constant whether the cash flow forecasting is done on a spreadsheet or on paper or on some other IT system.

A danger of using too much corporate finance theoretical methods in cash flow forecasting for managing a business is that there can be non cash items in the cash flow as reported under financial accounting standards. This goes to the heart of the difference between financial accounting and management accounting.

Many businesses will be expected to prepare a cash flow forecast as part of their business planning. This means trying to plan out when costs will arise over the next year and also what they think their revenue is going to be. For a new firm, they might do this based on the market research they have conducted prior to starting in business. For an established firm, they might base their forecast revenue on what has happened to them in previous years.

There are a few things we need to make clear about these forecasts.
· Receipts: This will be an estimate of the predicted sales revenue for each month. This is found by multiplying the amount the firm thinks it will sell by the price they charge.

· Payments: This section will detail the payments that the firm expects to have to make during the year. This will be added together to give a 'Total Payments' box for each month.

· Net Cash Flow: This will show the difference between the total payments and the receipts. For example, if in January a firm expects to receive Rs.500 in revenue but expects its total payments to be Rs.650, it will have a net cash flow of -Rs.150. This can either be put into the box as a minus number or is sometimes put in brackets (Rs.150) to show that it is a negative figure. 

· Opening Balance: This shows the money that a firm has carried over from a previous month. For example, in the case above, the firm would have to show that it had a negative cash flow of -Rs.150 carried over from January in the box for 'opening balance' for February.

· Closing Balance: This is the difference between the net cash flow figure and the opening balance.

Forecasting cash flow gives you a good indication of expected profit at the end of a particular time period. For example, you can calculate how much cash you will have after 6 months, or 1 year or more years.

In a wider sense, cash flow is divided into three activities; operating activities, investing activities and financing activities. The receipts included in operating activities are the sale of goods or services, interest revenue and dividend revenue. The payments are inventory purchase, payroll, taxes, interest expense and others (utilities, rent). In investing activities, cash receipts include the sale of assets, business segments, and investments in equity securities. Purchases of assets, equities, and loans to other entities are included in payments in this section. 
The third activity, financing activities, also have receipts and payments. Own stock issuance and borrowing (bonds, mortgage and so on) are receipts and dividend to stockholders; repaying principal amounts borrowed are the payments.

Illustration

In regards to forecasting cash flow, it can be illustrated with a simple example. A short-term prediction (weeks) can be done in the following way:

• The previous week's cash balance will be the beginning cash balance of the new week. 
• The ending cash balance will be equal to the beginning cash balance plus receipts minus payments.

4.5.3 Impact

Forecasting cash flow is conducted to keep you informed on how strong your company will be financially, at the end of a particular period. Normally it will be positive, provided the data is correct and the receipts and payments are realised as predicted. Moreover, cash flow prediction is made to make sure there are no defects in the running of the company and to rectify any problems, if there are any. There is always something unexpected happening in the world. 
Such things can also topple your calculations. Bogus entries in the forecast can affect your success. It is actually a mode of valuation of the status of one's business or company. It allows you to make timely changes to tide over the impending problems and also prepares you to make corrections and adjustments accordingly.

Making an accurate prediction in recent times has proved to be very difficult in recent times. Changes in the economy have seriously affected cash flow, risks, and financing, and these are the basic factors you need to pay close attention to when valuing your business. A statement of cash flow will usually form part of the financial statement included in the annual reports. Companies with high accounting profits generally have high cash flow. But it may not be always true, because net cash flow differs from net income. So, before making great changes based on projections, you must make a thorough study of all related sectors.
4.6 CASH BUDGETING

Properly preparing your cash budget will show how cash flows in and out of your business. Also, it may then be used in planning your short-term credit needs. In today's financial world, you are required by most financial institutions to prepare cash budgets before making capital expenditures for new assets as well as for expenditures associated with any planned expansion. The cash budget determines your future ability to pay debts as well as expenses. For example, preliminary budget estimates may reveal that your disbursements are lumped together and that, with more careful planning, you can spread your payments to creditors more evenly throughout the entire year. As a result, less bank credit will be needed and interest costs will be lower. 
Banks and other credit-granting institutions are more inclined to grant you loans under favorable terms if your loan request is supported by a methodical cash plan. Similarly, businesses that operate on a casual day-to-day basis are more likely to borrow funds at inopportune times and in excessive amounts. Without planning, there is no certainty that you will be able to repay your loans on schedule. However, once you've carefully mapped out a cash budget, you will be able to compare it to the actual cash inflows and outflows of your business. You will find that this comparison will go a long way in assisting you during future cash budget preparation. Also, a monthly cash budget helps pinpoint estimated cash balances at the end of each month which may foresee short-term cash shortfalls. 

4.6.1 Consistent Budgets
Cash budgeting is a continuous process that can be checked for consistency and accuracy by comparing budgeted amounts with amounts that can be expected from using typical ratios or financial statement relationships. For example, your treasurer will estimate the payments made to your suppliers of merchandise or materials, the payments to employees for wages and salaries, and the other payments that you are obligated to make. These payments can be scheduled by dates so that all discounts will be taken, and so that no obligation will be overlooked when it comes due. 
Cash collections from customers can also be estimated and scheduled by dates along with other expected cash receipts. With careful cash planning, you should be able to maintain a sufficient cash balance for your needs and not put yourself in the position of holding excessive balances of nonproductive cash. In the normal course of operations in a merchandising business, for example, merchandise is purchased and sold to customers who eventually pay for the merchandise sold to them. Usually there is a time lag in business operations. It may be necessary to pay the suppliers for merchandise before the merchandise is sold to the customers. Before and during a busy selling season the demand for cash may be higher than the inflow of cash from operations. In this case it may be necessary to arrange short-term loans. When the selling season is over, cash collections from customers will be relatively large and the loans can be paid off. 

Example of a Cash Budget 

The following is an example of a cash budget for the 90 days provided below for the XYZ Company. 
	CASH BUDGET FOR 90 DAYS

	Beginning cash balance
	Rs. 320,000

	Add:

	    Estimated collections on accounts receivable
	750,000

	    Estimated cash sales
	250,000

	 
	Rs.1,320,000

	Deduct:

	    Estimated payments on accounts payable
	Rs. 800,000

	    Estimated cash expenses
	150,000

	    Contractual payments on long-term debt
	150,000

	    Quarterly dividend
	50,000

	 
	Rs.1,150,000

	Estimated ending cash balance
	Rs. 170,000


 

Analysis of Example Cash Budget 

Analysis of the financial statements of the XYZ Company shows that the accounts receivable remain at about Rs.500,000 throughout the year; that is, there is no seasonal fluctuation in sales. The accounts receivable turns over six times a year, or once every 60 days. The inventory throughout the year remains at about Rs.800,000 and turns over every 90 days. The accounts payable remains at about Rs.400,000 and turns over eight times a year, about once every 45 days. With an accounts receivable collection period of 60 days and an average balance outstanding of Rs.500,000, it appears that Rs.750,000 is the amount that should be collected on the receivables in 90 days. Cash sales should amount to about Rs.250,000 if the inventory of Rs.800,000 valued at cost turns over once in 90 days and if the average markup is about Rs.200,000. Therefore, if an inventory of Rs.1,000,000 at retail turns over once every 90 days and Rs.750,000 flows through accounts receivable, then approximately Rs.250,000 must be sold on a cash basis. Cash payments for expenses are estimated to be Rs.150,000 in the next 90 days. This figure can be roughly checked by referring to the expenses on the income statement.A rough measure of the cash expenses can usually be obtained by using the operating expenses less any non-cash expenses such as depreciation. For example, if there is no seasonal factor, the total amount divided by four should be an approximate check on the amount budgeted for the next 90 days. 

Checking the Reasonableness of the Budget
If it appears that the budgeted amounts will differ substantially from ratios and relationships taken from past statements, then further attention should be given to the budget. For instance, some factors may have been overlooked in budgeting, or past statement relationships may no longer be applicable, due to unrecognized changes. 
Sample Cash Budget
Top of Form

	CASH BUDGET

	XYZ COMPANY

	ESTIMATED STATEMENT OF CASH RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

	FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010


	

	CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

	 
	JAN
	FEB
	MAR
	APR

	Estimated cash balance at the beginning of the period..
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	Estimated cash inflows:

	    Cash Sales..
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	    Collections on credit sales...
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	    Bank Loans..
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	Estimated cash outflows:

	    Payments to suppliers..
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	    Payments of operating and other expenses..
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	    Payments on equipment loan and interest..
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	    Payments on bank loans and interest..
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	    Dividends..
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	    Investment in short-term securities..
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	Total outflows
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	Estimated cash balance at the end of the period..
	[image: image52.wmf]

0


	[image: image53.wmf]

0


	[image: image54.wmf]

0


	[image: image55.wmf]

000




4.6.2 Sales and Other Potential Cash Sources
Normally, sales activity is expected to produce the bulk of the cash receipts. If sales are made on a credit basis, accounts receivable will eventually be translated into cash as the customers pay their accounts. The time required to collect outstanding accounts will have to be estimated, and provisions must be made for discounts, returns, allowances granted, and uncollectible accounts. In addition to sales, there are many other potential cash sources. These sources must be examined for possible additions to cash when setting up a total cash receipts budget for the year. 
Dividends and interest may be collected on investments or cash may be received from an incidental operation (i.e., rent or sale of scrap material). Ordinarily, cash will be realized from the sale of investments in stocks and bonds and from the sale of machinery or other assets not incurred in the normal course of trade. As a result of cash flow, stock may be issued or debt may be incurred with cash flowing. 
The various cost budgets, plans for capital acquisitions, commitments for the discharge of debt, and plans for dividend payments are brought together in a cash disbursements budget. If possible, payments will be scheduled at convenient times, when cash balances are expected to be sufficiently high. Frequently, the demand for cash is not spread evenly throughout the year. Several large payments may become due in one particular month. If cash receipts in that month are not expected to be sufficient, the company will either plan to hold back cash for these payments or will borrow. 
It is unlikely that disbursements will be made in every instance when costs are incurred or when materials and services are used. Advertising, insurance and rent, for example, are often paid in advance with the cost being absorbed against future operations. A debt of cash disbursements is made by scheduling payments required for materials, labor, other operating costs, dividends, debt service, and so forth. 
Budgeted cash receipts and disbursements are brought together to form a total cash budget. From this summary of estimated cash flow, it is possible to anticipate future cash balances. In some months, receipts may not be large enough to cover disbursements. If this happens, the cash balance will have to be reduced. If the outflow of cash is too great, plans will have to be made to borrow funds. In other months, when receipts are greater than disbursements, loans can be repaid and cash balances can be built up. 

4.6.3 Reserve
Financial plans are drawn up so that a minimum balance of cash will be available at all times. The amount to be held will depend on estimated future cash flows and the financial policy adopted. In general, the cash balance should be large enough to enable the company to meet its payrolls and pay its operating costs for the next month, with some allowance made for contingencies and miscalculations in planning. By holding adequate cash balances, management can cope with small adversities and will not be forced to borrow under unfavorable conditions. If trouble strikes, there will be a reserve to draw upon. 
While the reserve is being used, management can make alternate plans and can secure additional cash from other sources to meet future needs. Opinions differ as to what amount of cash should be held in reserve. Some companies maintain fairly substantial cash balances as well as a secondary reserve that consists of investments that can easily be converted into cash. 
Other companies prefer to operate with small cash reserves and when cash is needed depend on a line of credit which is established at a bank. Cash up to a certain limit may be borrowed when needed and arrangements are made for eventual repayment. 

4.7 Steps to Cash Flow Budgeting

There are various factors to consider when preparing your cash-flow budget, including the time period. This depends on the size of your business, but it’s common to prepare a 12-month cash-flow budget. When you’re starting up, consider preparing a 90-day cash flow budget.

1. Developing key data
These are numbers you’ll add to your cash-flow budget, including:
• Sales forecast

• Likely cash receipts, for example tax refunds, grants and loans

• Expenses forecast

• Likely cash payments, for example tax payments and loan repayments.

2. Developing a format

Set up a worksheet that includes all your receipt and payment transactions, with appropriate columns for the number of months you’re budgeting for. The procedure for working out your cash-flow budget is:
1. Take your beginning cash balance

2. Add your budgeted cash inflows

3. Deduct your budgeted cash outflows.
The result will be your budgeted cash balance.
3. Improve your cash flow
If it feels like your cash only flows in one direction – out - these cash management basics can help. Even without a cash-flow budget, they can work to your advantage.
Exhibit 1
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4. Other options

If you’re still having trouble with your cash flow, consider the following.

a. Review your cash-flow budget

• Review your actual cash flow for one month and compare it with your cash-flow budget. Identify any gaps between the results you achieved in the month under review against the budget you developed for the month.

• Develop strategies to manage any areas of concern.

• Review your actual cash flow for the three months prior to the budget period so you   understand your cash flow better. Review your cash flow budget to check your expectations are reasonable.

b. Get advice

Your accountant should be able to help you prepare a cash-flow budget. If you’re the leader of a team, you may find it beneficial to work through any cash-flow problems, or opportunities with your team. Consider whether you need assistance from your accountant in managing your relationship with your creditors.

5. What comes next?

Prepare your own cash-flow budget. Use it as a working document to identify weaknesses and opportunities. It will be invaluable in helping you measure, monitor and manage your money.

Activity 4
1. Explain cash flow management in detail and describe the techniques of better cash flow management.

2. What do you understand by cash flow statement? Discuss operating and financing activities with the help of suitable examples.

3. List the steps involved in cash flow budgeting. Why cash flow budgeting is an important aspect of cash management?

4. Put the following three components together to determine the total cash flow for the year 2009 of Pratigya ltd.

	Operating Cash Flow

	Net Income After Tax
	Rs.34,000

	Depreciation
	40,000

	Increase in Accounts Receivable
	(41,000)

	Increase in Inventory
	(18,000)

	Decrease in Accounts Payable
	(23,000)

	Increase in Accrued Expenses
	4,000

	Total Operating Cash Flow
	(4,000)


From the Balance Sheet, calculate the changes in the other accounts (those that are not a part of daily operations). Investing activities typically include long term assets used in the business:

	Investing Cash Flow

	Purchase of Equipment
	(100,000)

	Decrease in Notes Receivable
	50,000

	Total Investing Cash Flow
	(95,000)


The business added new equipment during the year. The financing activities will show us where the money came from:

	Financing Cash Flow

	Increase in Long Term Notes Payable
	126,000

	Increase in Term Loan
	24,000

	Conversion of Note to shareholder to Paid in Capital
	0

	Total Financing Cash Flow
	150,000


Note that the conversion of the note to shareholder to paid in capital did not require the use of funds. The owner may have made this conversion from debt to equity to help him obtain the loans that were used to buy the equipment and to provide working capital for the growing business. 

4.8 Summary

The unit highlights the management of cash flows and cash budgeting. Cash flow takes into account all of your financial dealings. It incorporates everything from net profits and the sale of assets, through to amortization of debts and depreciation. If you own a larger company, you may refer to this as 'free cash flow' which is where capital expenditure and shareholder dividends are also subtracted. After discussing cash flows, unit throws light on management of cash flow and its importance in financial decision making. Techniques for better cash flow management were suggested and cash flow statement was explained with the help of suitable illustrations. Cash flow forecasting was discussed as the modeling of a company or asset’s future financial liquidity over a specific timeframe. Cash budgeting was another important topic that unit deals in its final sections. Cash budgeting was described as a continuous process that can be checked for consistency and accuracy by comparing budgeted amounts with amounts that can be expected from using typical ratios or financial statement relationships.
4.9 further readings

· Beehler. Paul J. contemporary cash management: principles, practices and perspectives. 2nd edition New York. John Wiley and sons 1987

· Kelly, John M. cash management, New York. John Wiley and sons 1984

· Hartley, W.C.F, and Meltzer, Yale L. Cash management: Planning, forecasting and control. Englewood Cliffs, NJ Prentice Hall 1979

· Lerner, E.M. Simulating a cash budget, California management review. 1968

Solutions to activity 2

Solution 4:

Total Operating Cash Flow = 4000

Total Investing Cash Flow = 95000

Total Financing Cash Flow = 150,000

Cash at the end of the period = 52000
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